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Our Vision, Purpose and Objectives 
 
Vision 
 
We are the leading independent South African provider of innovative post trade products and services. 
 
We are globally recognised for the confidence we inspire in our financial markets infrastructure. 
 
Purpose 
 
Strate’s purpose is to provide clearing, settlement and depository services for securities, enabling  
end-to-end pragmatic, reliable, innovative solutions that facilitate the management of risk and the 
realisation of value for all stakeholders. 
 
Objectives 
 
Strate’s objectives are: 

 
1. To ensure operational excellence and the effective management of enterprise risk while 

driving innovation and market best practice. 
 

2. To have a customer-centric brand globally. 
 

3. To be profitable. 
 

4. To be a learning organisation enabling corporate and personal growth. 
 

Our Values 
 

1. Integrity 
 
2. Reliability 

 
3. Passion 

 
4. Dynamic Innovation 

 
5. Accountability 

 
6. Teamwork 
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Milestones – 2010 
 
January Strate launches a new website. 

 
 

February Tom Wixley, a former chairman of Ernst & Young in SA, is 
appointed chairman of Strate Charity Shares (“SCS”) following the 
retirement of David Cobbett. 
 
 

March South Africa's multibillion rand money market industry officially 
commences with the electronic issuing, trading and settlement of 
these securities to replace the manual paper based system.  
 
 

April Strate successfully implements the Corporate Actions Enhancement 
Project. 
 
Rand Merchant Bank (RMB) joins Strate's Gateway, allowing them 
to directly send and receive ISO15022 format messages to and from 
Strate in a cost effective manner.  
 
 

May A new communication hub / Gateway is implemented by Strate to act 
as a central hub for the sending and receiving of messages between 
clients.  
 
The second phase of the BND application was implemented. 
 

June Strate announces that is will be offering unlisted companies a facility 
whereby they can dematerialise, clear and settle shares in the Strate 
environment including the processing of corporate action events such 
as dividend and interest payments, rights and capitalisation issues. 
 
 

July Strate hosts a number of international visitors in South Africa for the 
FIFA World Cup. 
 
 

August Strate receives a B-BBEE level 3 rating for the financial year ended   
31 December 2009 and is classified as a value added supplier.  
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Milestones – 2010    (continued) 
  
 
September 

 
Strate excels in the Deloitte Best Company to Work For survey in 
South Africa by being rated the best company to work for in the 
Financial Services - General category and being placed 2nd overall in 
the Small Companies category. 
 
Strate Training receives accreditation as an Approved Training 
Provider by FASSET, the Sector Education and Training Authority 
for Finance, Accounting, Management Consulting and other 
Financial Services. 
 
The first ACSDA\CSD exchange programme was initiated in 2010. 
Strate and the Mexican CSD, Indeval, established an exchange 
programme. 
 

October Strate hosts an international Road Show at the London Stock 
Exchange which attracts over 50 delegates.  
 
The settlement of dematerialized money market securities reaches the  
R 1 trillion mark. 
 
Tata Consultancy Services (“TCS”) and Strate announced that an 
agreement was reached between the parties to jointly offer the TCS 
BaNCS  Securities Processing and Market Infrastructure applications 
to potential clients. 

  
November Strate and MCDR, the Egyptian CSD, successfully connected to the 

Link- up Markets infrastructure. The connection completes the technical 
implementation plans of Link-up Markets and sets the stage for full scale 
interoperability among the member CSDs. 
 
Strate successfully implements SAFIRES Equities Release 4.10.2 and 
Money Market Release 1.10.2. 

 
 
December 

 
 
Corporate governance expert Mr ME King retires as chairman of Strate 
having been chairman since 1999. 

 
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 

Business review 
 
Operating results 
 
Five year summary  
 

  
2006 
R'000 

2007 
R'000 

2008 
R'000 

2009 
R'000 

2010 
R'000 

      
Revenue      195,859       234,313       259,698  258,103 276,136 
      
Other income          1,231           2,291             1 604  1,732 1,673 
      
Expenditure      (112,795)       (128,579)       (158,830)  (168,812) (181,881) 

Profit from 
operations        84,295       108,025       102,472  91,024 95,928 

Finance income          9,830         10,197         10,586  10,632 7,921 

Profit before tax        94,125       118,222       113,058  101,656 103,849 
      
Taxation       ( 27,301)        ( 35,955)         (33,548)  (32,546) (34,558) 

Profit after tax         66,824         82,267         79,510  69,109 69,291 
 

Cost-to- Income ratio 
 

58% 55% 61% 65% 
 

66% 
      

Operating results for the year 
 
We were able to continue implementing our strategic initiatives despite the uncertainties in the global 
and local economy. The profit after taxation for the period under review amounts to R69,3 million and 
is in line with the prior year amount of R69,1 million. 
 
The Cost-to-Income ratio of 66% is slightly higher than the prior year ratio of 65% but still within our 
target of 65% to 70%. The increase in the ratio is attributable to expenditure increasing at a rate that 
exceeded the growth in revenue. 
 
On an overall basis, the profitability is at an acceptable level and management efforts are focused on 
ensuring that the current profitability is maintained. 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
 
Operating results for the year (continued) 
 

 
 
 
Total revenue increased by 7% to R276,1 million ( 2009: R258,1 million). 
 
The revenue derived from equities accounts for 87% (R241,6 million), previous year 88%  
(R228,3 million), bonds accounts for 11% (R31,4 million), previous year 12% (R29,8 million) and 
money markets accounts for the balance of 2% (R3,8 million) which was only earned from 23 
February 2010, the live date of the Money Market application.  
 
Overall, the total revenue is at an acceptable level. Pricing of our products and services is very 
important and is reviewed regularly. Pricing is one of the instruments that can be used to maintain the 
current level of profitability. In the past the increase in settlement volumes ensured that we did not 
have to increase fees as the revenue derived from this compensated for the impact of increased 
expenditure. We operate in an inflationary environment and should this trend of increased volumes not 
continue the possibility exists that fees will have to be increased. 
 
We increased some of our fees, specifically relating to issuers, in both 2009 and 2010, something that 
had not occurred since 2004 and was done as part of a process of rectifying our revenue split. Our 
revenue is largely made up of clearing and settlement revenue which is not in line with the 
international norm. 
 
 
 
 
 

195 859
234 313

259 698 258 103 276 136

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

���
��

Revenue 
R'000



 
 

7 
 

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Operating results for the year (continued) 
 

 
 
Total operating expenditure increased by 7,7%, to R181,9 million (2009: R168,8 million). The 
increase is mainly attributable to: 
 
�  Depreciation and amortization as we revised the useful lives and residual values of our assets and 

acquired new computer equipment that was brought into use; 
�  Personnel expenses and directors’ fees that increased as result of annual increases awarded. 

 
Market statistics 
Equities 
 
Strate earned R241,6 million (2009: R228,3 million) of its revenue from the equities market, which 
represents a 6% increase over the previous year.  
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Market statistics (continued) 
 
Equities (continued) 
 
On 31 December 2010 the dematerialised value of equities was R4,7 trillion (representing 70% of  
the total market capitalisation of R6,9  trillion), which is 17% up on the previous year value of  
R4,0 trillion (representing 68 % of the total market capitalisation of R5,9 trillion). This statistic has no 
impact on revenue. 
 

 
 
The equities market trading volumes increased 14% with the on-market trades for the year under 
review totaling 23,8 million (2009: 20,8 million). Strate processed 3,6 million on-market settlements 
(2009: 3,5 million), an increase of 2% year-on-year, and 1,54 million off-market settlements  
(2009: 1,37 million), an increase of 13% over the previous year. 
 
The net settlement model adopted by the market is the main reason why the increase in the number of 
settlements processed by Strate during the year did not result in an equal increase in settlement 
revenue. 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Market statistics (continued) 
 
Bonds 
 
Strate earned R31,4 million (2009: R29,8 million) of its revenue from the bonds market, which 
represents a 5%  increase over the previous year.  
 

 
  
The average market value of bonds in custody for the year was R1,17 trillion, which is 20% up on the 
previous year’s value of R0,98 trillion. This positively impacted the revenue derived from depository 
fees. 
 
The nominal value of bond trades increased for the year under review to R16,9 trillion, which is 26% 
up on the previous year’s value of R13,4 trillion. This positively impacted the revenue derived from 
ad-valorem fees. 
 
The number of individual bond trade legs increased by 10% to 718 704 (2009: 654 180) resulting in 
bond settlements increasing by 6% to 296 588 (2009: 280 267). This positively impacted the revenue 
derived from settlements. 
 
Money Markets 
 
Strate earned R3,8 million (2009: Nil ) of its revenue from the money market. We went live on 23 
February 2010 with category 1 (discounted securities) and category 2 (fixed coupon and fixed 
maturity) securities. 
 
The nominal value of money market securities issued during the period amounts to R774 billion and 
the nominal value of money market trade legs for the period under review amounts to R2,1 trillion. 
 
On 31 December 2010 the nominal value of money market securities in custody was R471 billion.  
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Sustainability 
 
The board and management are committed to ensuring the sustainability of the business, which is a 
key building block in our strategy and our strategic objectives. 
 
Stakeholder support is essential in achieving these objectives. We are continuously evaluating our 
engagement with our stakeholders in order to identify and enhance our understanding of the issues 
they value.   We see this engagement as an opportunity to learn from each other and to build and 
strengthen trust. 
 
Using the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) framework as a guide, we have assessed the key 
impacts, risks and opportunities in our business to ensure that all the relevant and material economic, 
environmental and social elements, are identified and integrated into our balanced scorecard as 
performance indicators. 
 
The balance scorecard for 2010 is included below: 
 

Objective Measure Target  Actual 

 
To ensure operational 
excellence and the 
effective management 
of enterprise risk while 
driving innovation and 
market best practice 

Successful implementations 100% 100% 
Benefits realized as new revenue R7,3 mil R7,1 mil 
B-BBEE certification Level 7 Level 3 
Operational excellence Meet SLAs Met SLAs 

CSD and Clearing house licence To renew Renewed 

To be Stakeholder 
centric 

Number of new clients 21 23 
Number of new services 4 6 
Rating from External stakeholders 3.5*  3.9*  

To be profitable 
Net Profit After Tax R61,2 mil R69,3 mil 
Return on Equity 27% 29.5% 
Cost-to-Income ratio 69% 66% 

To be a learning 
organization enabling 
corporate and personal 
growth 

Training budget spent 90% 91% 

Skills development grant 
Obtain maximum 

grant 
Obtained 

Employee 
satisfaction 

Blue prints index rating to 
be maintained or improved 

2.68**  2.82**  

Deloitte’s Best Company 
To Work For survey 

Similar or 
improved rating 

Achieved an 
improved rating 

*Score using a 5 point rating scale. 
** Score using a 3 point rating scale. 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 

Operational activities 
 
Custody and settlement 
 
During the period under review, Strate provided an uninterrupted service to its various stakeholders, 
thereby contributing to the stability of the South African financial markets.  
 
The company successfully cleared bond and money market transactions, settled equity, bond and 
money market transactions, facilitated corporate events in equities, bonds and money markets and 
provided various other ancillary services. 
 
Business Continuity 
 
Business continuity is an imperative in our business and during the year we have strengthened our 
ability to cope with adverse events. 
 
We are aware that the success of business continuity depends largely on our people. We therefore 
invest a great deal of time and money in initiatives and programmes aimed at improving the skills of 
our employees. 
 
We have enhanced our succession planning and have successfully tested key elements of our business 
continuity plan. 
 
Information Technology 
 
Maintenance of Applications 
 
Maintaining our applications is critical as it impacts their useful lives. We evaluate the useful lives of 
all our applications and are of the view that, besides the Bonds and Client front end applications, our 
applications are able to support the business requirements for the foreseeable future. 
 
Money Markets 
 
The Money Market System (“MMS”), Electronic Trade Matching Engine (“ETME”) and Money 
Market Front End (“MMFE”) applications went live on 23 February 2010 with category 1 (discounted 
securities) and category 2 (fixed coupon and fixed maturity) securities. This solution includes leading 
practices, such as a T+0 settlement cycle, payment of cash in central bank funds, an ETME and a 
Securities Ownership Register (“SOR”), to name but a few. 
 
We have finalized the business requirements for category 3 (variable rate and fixed maturity) 
securities, and are planning to implement this functionality to cater for these securities by the last 
quarter of 2011. 
  



 
 

12 
 

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Operational activities (continued) 
 
Information Technology (continued) 
 
Gateway application 
 
The Gateway application was implemented in May 2010. 
 
Strate offers SWIFT and Gateway connectivity as alternatives that business partners and Participants 
can avail themselves of. The Gateway service, an alternative to SWIFT, mitigates the risks associated 
with the previous technology and enables Strate to meet the markets needs and diversify its revenue 
streams. 
 
Bond 
 
The Bond application functionality is currently being reviewed.  
 
Beneficial Download (“BND”) 
 
The second phase of the BND application was implemented in May 2010. 
 
This implementation completed the project, which aimed at addressing the shortcomings of the 
existing BND application. The total project encompassed a rewrite of the existing BND application 
that is used for the beneficial downloads for equities, the introduction of an automated solution for 
processing beneficial downloads for bonds as well as functionality for a more regular (daily) beneficial 
download for both equities and bonds. 
 
Corporate Actions 
 
A new application was implemented in April 2010. 
 
The new application automated many manual corporate action processes, thereby enhancing Straight 
Through Processing (“STP”), mitigating risk and introducing efficiencies for Strate and the market. A 
report issued by the International Securities Services Association (“ISSA”) on global principles for 
corporate actions recognised the sophisticated and successful corporate action processing methodology 
in South Africa. The new application further complements the successful methodology already in 
place in South Africa. 
 
Securities Lending and Borrowing (“SLB”) 
 
Additional functionality was developed and implemented during the year. 
 
The additional functionality enhances the handling and tracking of equity collateral. This is of benefit 
to both business partners and Strate. 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Fee structure 
 
We review our fee structure on a continuous basis in order to ensure that our fees reflect the value of the services 
that we provide and, where applicable, are comparable with the fees of other equivalent CSDs. 
 
In 2009 the focus was on the equities fee structure which resulted in the revised fee structure being implemented 
on 1 October 2009. 
 
By contrast, in 2010 the focus was on bonds and information technology fees. The revised fee structure for these 
areas was implemented on 1 October 2010. 
 
Other amendments made to fees include the escalation of equity issuers’ fees by 7%, which is in line with the 
findings of the equities fees analysis and also with the escalation in the cost of the service that is provided.  
 
 
Diversification of revenue streams 
 
Strate is continuously searching for other business opportunities to diversify its revenue streams in order to 
reduce its dependency on clearing and settlement revenue.   
 
There are various initiatives that are being investigated and we are pleased to report that we have been able to 
generate R7,1 million from new revenue streams in 2010. 
 
 
CSD11 Conference 
 
The global biennial Central Securities Depository (“CSD”) conference scheduled for 2011 will take place in Cape 
Town, South Africa from 13-15 April 2011. 
 
The African and Middle Eastern Depository Association (“AMEDA”), of which Strate is a member, was awarded 
the right to host the conference. Strate and the Egyptian CSD are working together in organising the event. 
 
 
Shareholders’ return 
 
The company declared and paid an ordinary dividend of R3 542 per share, based on a dividend policy of 2 times 
cover, and a special dividend of R2 050 per share. These were paid on 30 April 2010. 
 
An ordinary dividend of R3 551 per share and a special dividend of R2 460 per share are proposed to be paid on 
31 March 2011. 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 

Human Capital Matters 
 
Deloitte Best Company To Work For competition (“DBCTWF”) 
 
Strate was voted 1st in the DBCTWF survey in the Financial Services – General category, and 2nd overall in the 
Small Companies category. It was also recognised as one of the companies that achieved an overall mean-score in 
excess of the standard of excellence threshold.  
 
We are pleased with the improved results and intend further improvements in our performance in the future. 
 
Staff complement 
 
The staff complement was stable during the period under review.  
 
All critical positions are filled and succession plans are in place. In the succession plans, the progress made in 
respect of transformation is noticeable as most of the successors and stand-in staff identified are from the 
designated groups (Indian, African and Coloured). 
 
Executive Committee (“Exco”) 
 

The names of executive committee members at the date of this report are: 
 

Name Function 
  
Ms MJ Singer Saul 
Mr AF van Eden 
Mr H van Eeden 
Ms MR Vermaas 

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary (“CFO”) 
Head- Legal Services 

Mr DG Connock Head- Risk 
Mr BL Furman Head- Supervision 
Ms T Knowles Head- Marketing 
Mr M Puri Chief Information Officer (“CIO”) 
Mr IG Seymour-Smith 
Ms FL Gumede  
Ms L Bevis 

Head- Custody and Settlement 
Head- Human Resources and Transformation  
Head- Client Relations 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Regulatory responsibility  
 
The annual licences to operate as the Central Securities Depository (“CSD”) for the South African equity and 
bond markets, as well as to perform the clearing house functionality for bonds, were both renewed by the 
Financial Services Board (“FSB”). 
 
Strate continues to operate as a Self Regulatory Organisation (“SRO”) in terms of the CSD licence granted by 
the FSB. 
 
For more details of the regulatory progress made by Strate, a report by the Chairman of the Regulatory and 
Supervisory Committee is included in the Corporate Governance report. 
 
A separate annual Regulatory and Supervisory report is available from the Company Secretary on request. 
 
ACSDA\CSD Exchange programme 
 
The first Americas’ Central Securities Association (“ACSDA”) CSD exchange programme was initiated in 2010. 
 
An exchange programme between Strate and the Mexican CSD, Indeval, started in September 2010 with each 
CSD exchanging two staff members for a six month period. 
 
The programme is aimed at enhancing learning as the candidates have the opportunity to learn about the other 
country, its markets and its CSD. The international experience gained and the increase in knowledge can 
hopefully be applied to the benefit of both CSDs. 
 
The initial exchange programme comes to an end in March 2011. We and Indeval are extremely satisfied with 
the results and plan on taking part in future exchange programmes.     
 
Securities Ownership Register (“SOR”) 
 
The SOR initiative is a joint initiative between Strate and the JSE.  
 
The efforts to implement an SOR in South Africa continued in 2010 as meetings were held with market 
participants to discuss and address any concerns they may have. The goal at this stage is to develop the business 
requirements and plan for the future implementation of the SOR. 
 
Due to other market priorities the implementation of an SOR is not envisaged in the short term, but discussions 
will continue. 
 
The initiative is supported by the FSB and National Treasury. 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
The Future 
 
State of South African economy 
 
Business confidence and long term growth prospects are positive. The recovery in emerging market countries, 
such as Brazil, India and China, who are part of the BRIC group of countries, is good news for South Africa. 
South Africa was recently identified as one of the other emerging countries that stand to benefit from foreign 
investment in the future. 
 
Exchange control was also further substantially relaxed in 2010. This signals economic confidence and allows 
South African residents to increase their foreign investments.  
 
Impact on Strate 
 
The confidence in the South African economy brings opportunity for Strate.  
 
The prospects of foreign investment into South Africa and South African residents being able to increase their 
foreign investment due to the relaxation of exchange control are closely aligned with our strategic initiatives. 
 
Link-up Capital Markets (“LUCM”) and interoperability are some of the strategic initiatives aimed at growing 
and diversifying our revenue. LUCM offer an alternative to local investors who want to invest abroad and 
foreign investors who want to invest in South Africa. It is also seen as an alternate for local and foreign 
investors who want to invest in Africa as we envisage utilising LUCM as the communications gateway for 
Africa. 
 
This complements the strategy that we have formulated for Africa. There are many opportunities in Africa and 
we are investing time and resources to investigate these. It is a medium to long term strategy with many 
rewards for the entire African continent.    
  
Besides strategic initiatives aimed at growing the business, we intend to further entrench our position as the 
markets trusted third party by sustaining our current services.  
 
 Plans for 2011 
 
We will continue with our efforts to find additional and alternative revenue streams that are complementary to 
our current business model. Many of the initiatives we are investigating are medium to long term projects 
whose benefits will only be seen in future years.  
 
The most significant initiatives and projects scheduled for implementation in 2011 are Money Markets Phase 2, 
an OTC Derivatives Register, Segregated Depository Accounts (“SDAs”), an Application Service Provider and 
Link-up Capital Markets offering.  
 
We are also in discussion with 6 parties who have expressed interest in becoming Central Securities Depository 
Participants (“CSDPs”). 
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Chief Executive Officer and Chairman’s Report 
 
Chairman of Board 
 
The Chairman of the board, Mr ME King, indicated in 2010 that his last day in offices will be  
31 December 2010. Mr MR Johnston was appointed as the chairman from 1 January 2011. 
 
We want to express our sincere gratitude to Mr King for the invaluable contribution that he has made during his 
11 year tenure as chairman and wish him well for the future. 
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Corporate governance report 
 

This report sets out the key governance principles adopted by the directors in governing Strate Limited. 

 

  
The Board endorses the principles of accountability, integrity and transparency underlying the Code 
 of Governance Principles as contained in the King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa, 
2009. (“King III”) 
 

 

King III was released on 1 September 2009  for implementation in respect of financial periods commencing 
on/after 1 March 2010. Strate has assessed the governance principles contained in King III and and are 
reporting against these principles. The Board operates under an approved Charter and annual workplan and 
is responsible for, amongst other things, the ongoing assessment of the following: 

 
 

  
�  Strategic and business plans; 

 
 

�  Management’s performance against objectives; 
 

 

�  Assessment of policies which include: 
 

 

�  delegation of powers to board committees; 
 

 

�  responsibilities and terms of reference of board committees; and 
 

 

�  levels of authority of board committees.  
  
Board evaluations are performed on an annual basis. We are in the process of finalising the performance 
evaluations for 2010. 

 

  
Board of Directors – composition   
  
The board consist of a majority of non-executive directors of which the majority are independent.  
  
The names and details of the directors in office at the date of this report are as follows: 
 

 

Name Mr MR Johnston 
Age 62 
Qualification CA(SA) 
Classification Non-executive Chairman 
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Active in stock broking through Lurie, Johnston & Co Inc for 25 years: 
Chairman of JSE during period of Deregulation, introduction of electronic 
trading and uncertificated settlement. LID of Mr Price Group Ltd and 
several other Board appointments. Actively involved in market education, 
regulation and enforcement. 
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Corporate governance report 
 
Board of Directors – composition (continued) 
 
 
Name Mr NG Payne 
Age 51 
Qualification CA (SA); MBL 
Classification  Independent Non- executive 
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Director of companies including the JSE Limited; The Bidvest Group 
Limited; Mr Price Group Limited; BSI Steel Limited; Glenrand MIB 
Limited. 

 
Name 
 

Mr RJG Barrow 

Age 64 
Qualification CA(SA) 
Classification Independent Non-executive  
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Previous positions include being the executive officer of the FSB and 
Head of Surveillance at JSE. 
  
He has acted as chairman of the Directorate for Market Abuse since its 
inception. 

 
Name Mr PL Campher 
Age 63 
Qualification B Com 
Classification Independent Non-executive  
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

CEO of the Association of Saving and Investment of South Africa 
(“ASISA”) and director of various other companies. 

 
Name Mr RSM Ndlovu 
Age 44 
Qualification Bachelor Business Studies (Hons) 
Classification Independent Non-executive  

 
Brief summary of 
experience 

Raymond Ndlovu is the co-founder and CEO of Noah Financial Innovation 
(Pty) Ltd, an independent financial services company. Director of companies 
including the JSE Empowerment Fund Trust,   
JSE SRI Advisory Committee and CSR Systems (Pty) Ltd. 
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Corporate governance report 
 
Board of Directors – composition (continued) 
 

Name Ms A van der Merwe 
Age 47 
Qualification B.Luris, LLB, LLM 
Classification Independent Non-executive  
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Corporate lawyer and company secretary of companies in the listed 
environment for nearly 20 years and a member of the King Committee. A 
well-known presenter of workshops for directors and company secretaries 
on issues such as board effectiveness, statutory duties and liabilities and 
effective meetings. She manages her own governance and statutory 
consulting company. 

 
Name Mr MJ Stocks 
Age 45 
Qualification B. Com 
Classification Non-executive  
  
Brief summary 
of experience 

He has experience across a broad spectrum of areas including Treasury, 
Corporate and International Banking, S.W.I.F.T, Programme Management, 
Customer electronic banking, Credit Card  Processing, Cash and Cheque 
operations , Global trade and as extensive knowledge of Domestic and 
Cross Border payment systems. 

 
Name Ms N Andrykowsky 
Age 33 
Qualification  B Bus. Sci (Hons) 
Classification Non-executive  
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Front office COO of ABSA Capital, responsible for business strategy and 
special projects, oversees Absa Capital Custody and Trustee. Prior to Absa 
Capital, worked at Monitor Group, a global strategy firm. 
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Corporate governance report 
 
Board of Directors – composition (continued) 
 
 
Name 

 
Mr RM Loubser 

Age 60 
Qualification CA(SA),  M Com Statistics 
Classification Non-executive 

 
Brief summary of 
experience 

CEO and executive director of the JSE; member of the Risk Management 
Committee; member of the board of directors of the World Federation of 
Exchange; previous chairman of the World Federation of  Exchanges; 
previous chairman of the South African Futures exchange; previous 
executive director of financial markets at Rand Merchant Bank Limited.   

 
Name Ms MJ Singer Saul 
Age 50 
Qualification CA(SA) 
Classification Executive  
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Previous positions include Technical Director at the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accounts (“SAICA”) before joining Strate. CEO of Strate 
since inception in 1999. 

 
Name Mr AF van Eden 
Age 54 
Qualification CA(SA) 
Classification Executive  
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Previous positions include Senior Manager at PWC and Financial director 
and COO of Stanlib Asset Management. COO of Strate since March 2009. 

 
Name Mr  H van Eeden 
Age 39 
Qualification CA(SA) 
Classification Executive  
  
Brief summary of 
experience 

Previously with Deloitte and Touche where he served his articles. With 
Strate since November 1999 as Head of Finance and Company Secretary. 
Currently CFO and Company Secretary. 
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Attendance at Board meetings 
 
       
Director Alternate 24  

March 
2010 

21  
May 
2010 

13 
August 
2010 

16 
November 

2010 
Total 

       
Mr. ME King  (Chairman)  Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr. MR Johnston Mr.DJ Davidson Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr NG Payne  Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr RJG Barrow  Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr PL Campher  Y Y N Y 3 
Ms NE Makiwane  Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr RSM Ndlovu  Y Y Y Y 4 
Ms A van der Merwe  Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr MJ Stocks  Y Y Y Y 4 
Ms N Andrykowsky **  N Y Y Y 3 
Mr RM Loubser Mrs N Newton-King A N Y Y 3 
Ms MJ Singer Saul (CEO)   Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr AF van Eden  (COO)  Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr. H van Eeden (CFO and    
Company Secretary) * 

 
Y Y Y Y 4 

       
       
Ms SV Zilwa ***  N N Y N/A 1 
       
Observers       
       
FSB Representatives****  Y Y Y Y 4 
  

     

*        Appointed as director with effect from date 13 August 2010. Before appointment attended as Company           
Secretary.                  

**      Appointed with effect from date 25 March 2010. 
***    Resigned as director, effective date 9 November 2010 due to other business commitments. 
****  Financial Services Board (“FSB”) representatives attend Board meetings as observers. 
N/A   Not applicable 

 
 
The directors were also invited to attend the Annual General Meeting which was held on 24 March 2010. 
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Board committees 
 
The Board established five permanent committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities. 
 
These committees were the 
 

�  Audit and Risk committee; 
�  Regulatory and Supervisory committee; 
�  Remunerations committee; 
�  Nominations committee; and 
�  Transformation committee.  

 
The need for specific board committees  are continuously assessed and the following changes were made: 
  

�  The Transformation committee was disbanded in 2010 as it had served its purpose. The focus will be 
continued as it is a permanent item on the Board agenda; and 

�  The Remuneration committee and the Nomination committee were combined early in 2011 and in the 
future will operate as a single committee named the Remuneration and Nomination committee. 

 
Authority is delegated to each of these permanent committees by the Board. Committee meeting agendas, papers 
and minutes are made available to all members of the Board on request. 

Sub-committees, like for example the Urgent Issues committee  and New Business committee,  are also formed on 
an ad hoc basis to deal with specific matters. 

 
Audit and Risk committee 
 
The Audit and Risk committee was established to assist the Board in relation to the reporting of financial 
information, the appropriate application and amendment of accounting policies, the identification and 
management of risk, the internal control systems and governing external and internal audit. 
 
A report by the Chairman of the committee is included on pages 42-46. 
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Remunerations committee and Nominations committee  
  
The functions of the Remunerations and the Nominations committees operated as two separate committees in 2010 
and have since been combined to a single committee. 

 

  
A report by the Chairman of the Remunerations committee is included on pages 47-50.  
A report by the Chairman of the Nominations committee is included on page 51.  
  
Regulatory and Supervisory committee  
  
The Regulatory and Supervisory committee was established to assist the Board in supervising the activities of the 
CSDPs in terms of its CSD licence which is based on SRO principles.  
 
The activities of Supervision and Strate operations are segregated. 

 

  
A report by the Chairman of the Regulatory and Supervisory committee is included on pages 52-54. 
 

 

  
Transformation committee  
  
The Transformation Committee was established to assist the Board in defining a transformation agenda in line with 
the principles of the Code of Black Economic Empowerment and proposed Financial Sector Charter. As mentioned 
earlier it was decided to disband this committee as it has served the specific purpose it was established for. 

 

  
A report by the Chairman of the Transformation Committee is included on page 55.  
  
  
Stakeholder relations  
 
Strate recognises the importance of stakeholders in the achievement of its strategy and long-term sustained growth. 
Our ethical standards for engaging with any stakeholders is aligned to the organisations values. 
 
Given the important nature of Strate’s role within the South African financial market infrastructure, we view 
ongoing dialogue with both internal and external stakeholders as an essential part of our business. 
 
We have identified our various stakeholders, the nature of each stakeholder relationship and have prioritised 
relationships based on their relevance to our long-term sustained growth. 
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Stakeholder relations (continued) 
 
The key stakeholders identified are: 
 
�  The Board of directors 
�  The JSE Limited 
�  CSDPs 
�  Regulators and certain Government departments 
�  Staff 
�  Suppliers/Vendors 
�  Media 
�  Issuers 
�  Shareholders 

 
We engage with our key stakeholders on an ongoing, and sometimes daily, basis using varied methods of interaction 
and communication. 
 
 
Ethical practices 
 
Strate’s code of conduct is designed to set standards of behaviour. All employees and suppliers are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards aimed at ensuring that the company’s business practices are conducted in a 
manner that is above reproach. Emphasis is placed on respecting client confidentiality, avoiding conflicts of 
interest, and conducting business with integrity and honesty. Failure to comply with the code of ethics is viewed 
as a serious disciplinary breach that is subjected to disciplinary action.  
 
We will cease doing business with any supplier not complying with our code of conduct. 
 
No violations of this code have come to light during the year under review. 
 
Labour Practices, Environment and Social 
 
Labour Practices 
 
Strate complies with the Occupational Health and Safety Act (No.85 of 1993). Exco members are required to 
undergo an annual comprehensive health examination.  
 
Strate further provides the following services: 
 
Wellness 
 
The objective of the wellness programme is to create awareness about, and motivate staff to prioritise their 
wellbeing. The initiative empowers staff to make informed decisions about their work and life through a fun, 
creative and interactive process.  
 
Strate aims to continually develop the Wellness Programme and encourages a work-life balance with less stress, 
burnout and absenteeism. A safe environment, healthy and happy staff leads to greater productivity. Strate would 
also like to use this drive to focus on areas identified by staff as areas for improvement in the DBCTWF survey, as 
well as in the Blueprints DNA survey.  
 



 

26 
 

 
Corporate governance report 
 
Labour Practices, Environment and Social (continued) 
 
HIV/AIDS 
 
Strate has arranged for speakers on the topic and participates actively in World Aids Day on 1 December each 
year. Our policies are also protective of the rights of those staff who may be living with HIV/AIDS. 
 
ICAS 
 
ICAS Southern Africa is part of ICAS International, the world's leading provider of behavioural risk management 
services to the business community. ICAS offers free telephone counselling for Strate employees and their 
immediate families. They also offer three free face-to-face sessions with a qualified counsellor at no charge. ICAS 
has a great online facility that allows individuals to profile themselves and seek advice from experts on matters 
such as nutrition, fitness, finances, legal problems and much more. 
 
ICAS also offer a service specifically targeted at managers offering advice on how to deal with difficult employees 
and poor performance. 
 
Learnership programme 
 
The Learnership programme at Strate is aimed at facilitating the implementation of learnerships for people with 
disabilities. This supports and assists Strate’s B-BBEE Strategy, in retaining talent and meeting scarce skills needs. 
The learnership programme has a direct positive impact on Employment Equity and the Skills Development 
elements of the B-BBEE score card. 
 
The implementation of the learnerships included training to existing staff which addressed issues relating to 
disabilities, the management thereof and the integration of people with disabilities in the work place. 
 
Mentorship Programme 2010 
 
The Mentorship programme is a valuable vehicle not only for development of mentees but also for the 
development of leadership potential. The purpose of the programme is to address the transfer skills from 
experienced employees to those less experienced, thereby ensuring the sustainability of knowledge in Strate.   
 
Currently we have twenty five mentees who have access to the guidance and support of objective mentors who can 
act as a sounding board and motivator. This programme also helps with the integration of employees in Strate. The 
2010 Strate mentorship programme comprised of twenty three mentors and twenty five mentees. 
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Labour Practices, Environment and Social (continued) 
 
Environmental 
 
Given the nature of our business, our environmental impact is limited to specific areas. The material areas are 
energy, materials and transport. 
 
Over the years Strate has implemented several actions aimed at mitigating the environmental impact of our 
behaviour and our services. The actions include the following listed below. 
 
Energy 
 
�  An intelligent lighting system was installed; 
�  The air conditioning system is set to switch off automatically after business hours; 
�  Electricity meters were installed to accurately record and monitor usage; and 
�  Electricity efficiency is considered and evaluated in the acquisition of new technology equipment. 

 

Materials 
 
�  We are constantly monitoring paper and printer usage; 
�  We have limited the provision of bottled water by installing water coolers; 
�  We are using the technology at our disposal more effectively. For example e-mail and on-line review 

functionality; and 
�  We promote the recycling of paper and tin cans. 

  

Transport 
 
�  We have implemented a remote access facility and flexible working arrangements for employees. 

 

Social 
 
Investing in our local communities is an essential part of Strate’s business philosophy. We support a number of 
worthy causes which have had a positive impact on people’s lives and their future. 
 
Strate encourages its staff to become involved in Socio-Economic Development (“SED”) initiatives and they 
regularly participate in community out-reach programmes. Strate also has a programme in place where staff 
members can nominate a worthy course within their communities to receive support from the company. 
 
During 2010 Strate contributed R606 304 to various initiatives which include the following: 
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Labour Practices, Environment and Social (continued) 
 
Social (continued) 
 
Valued Citizen – Strate Siyakhula Project 
 
The Siyakhula programme (“Siyakhula”) focuses on Grade 9 girl learners and aims to create a platform whereby 
the learners are empowered to make life choices and take control of their futures. Siyakula runs an after school 
programme which is focussed on leadership, communication, negotiation skills and decision making skills 
is viewed as essential skills required to make life decisions and take control of their futures.  
 
Thuthuka Bursary Fund 
 
The South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (“SAICA”) has over the last 18 years been running 
numerous programmes to assist students from disadvantaged backgrounds with entry into the accounting 
profession.  
 
The Thuthuka Education Upliftment Fund and Thuthuka Bursary Fund have been created as vehicles through 
which this consolidated strategy is driven. The core objective is to establish and maintain structures for carrying 
out and promoting skills development. This will contribute to changing the membership demographics of the 
Chartered Accountancy profession with the ultimate aim that the membership of the profession will reflect the 
country’s population demographics. 
 
During 2010, Strate contributed R120 000 towards the Thuthuka Bursary Fund which used the money to sponsor 
three students. 
 
Sekolo sa Borokgo 
 
Formed in 1993, Sekolo sa Borokgo is a non-profit, co-educational, independent school, registered with the 
Gauteng Department of Education, from whom it received a small subsidy.  
 
The school mainly caters for previously disadvantaged learners who come from areas such as Soweto, 
Alexandra, Vosloorus, Diepsloot, Cosmo City and the East Rand. The aim of the school is to develop learners in 
a structured environment with particular emphasis on Mathematics, Science and English. 
 
The school currently operates on two campuses: the Middle School in Blairgowrie (Grades 7 to 9), and the Matric 
Centre in Randburg (Grades 10 to 12 and A Level College). Both sites were acquired via external corporate 
funding. 
 
During 2010,  Strate donated an amount of R60 000 towards Sekolo sa Borokgo for the refurbishment of their 
middle school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

29 
 

 
Corporate governance report 
 
Labour Practices, Environment and Social (continued) 
 
Social (continued) 
 
Ebenezer Care Centre 
 
Ebenezer Care Centre provides a loving home environment for about 80 destitute adults and 60 children. It 
ensures that the children get the necessary education to enable them to lead fulfilling lives. 
 
Strate not only provides ongoing financial support to the centre, but also recognises the value of staff 
involvement in the project. We encourage a philosophy of staff volunteering, thus enabling staff to adopt a 
hands-on approach in the lives of those at the Ebenezer Care Centre. 
 
During 2010, Strate made a contribution of R39 900 towards purchasing a bus engine for the bus used to 
transport the Ebenezer children to school. Strate also paid an amount of R40 500 towards the school children’s 
school fees.   
 
Strate donated a total of R 164 980 towards this initiative during 2010.  
 
 
JSE / Liberty Life Investment Challenge 
 
The programme encourages schools in disadvantaged communities to participate in the JSE’s Investment 
Challenge, which teaches learners how to trade shares. Strate contributed R25 000 during 2010 to provide 
schools with access to the financial media. 
 
Other 
 
Strate contributed to the balance of R196 424 towards initiatives which include the following: 

 
�  Interactive at Wellness 
�  Cell C Day 
�  Zondi Community  
�  East Bank High School 
�  We care feeding scheme  
�  Nkosi Haven  
�  Sunflower Fund 
�  Bingo Evening and 
�  Lesotho Project 
�  Tabernacle  
�  Tlou Secondary School in Phofu Village  
�  Action for the blind and disabled 
�  Genyaneni Community Service 
�  Endangered Wildlife Trust and 
�  Kitty and Puppy Heaven 
 
 
 
 
 



 

30 
 

 
Corporate governance report 
 
Labour Practices, Environment and Social (continued) 
 
Social (continued) 
 
Strate Charity Shares (“SCS”) 
 
SCS is a charity donation programme run by Strate, Computershare Investor Services and PSG Online. SCS serves 
as a convenient mechanism whereby shareholders can quickly and easily donate small or large amounts of shares to 
charity. It does not cost the person making the donation anything and it is also tax-deductible. 
 
SCS is a highly effective vehicle for disposing of small holdings of shares that are too costly to sell through a 
stockbroker. 
 
The donations have helped organisations like Bethany House Trust, Child Welfare, African Children Feeding 
Scheme, SAICA WeCare Campaign. 
 
Society and Transformation 
 
Strate improved its B-BBEE rating by obtaining a level 3 rating for the financial year ended 31 December 2009, 
compared to a level 8 rating in the preceding financial year. In addition Strate is classified as a value-added 
supplier which means that an additional 25% can be claimed resulting in customers being able to claim 137,5% 
of each rand spent with Strate for B-BBEE purpose. 
 
The details of Strate scoring are as follows: 
 
 2009  2008 
 %  % 
    
Equity ownership 15,78  8,67 
Management control 2,30  2,00 
Employment Equity 10,02  5,03 
Skills Development 12,56  0,53 
Preferential Procurement 17,90  15,21 
Socio Economic Development 5,0  3,38 
Enterprise Development 15,0  0,00 
    
 78,56   34,82 
 Level 3  Level 8 
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Labour Practices, Environment and Social (continued) 
 
Social (continued) 
 
Workforce profile 
 
The workforce profile statistics for Strate are as follows: 
 
Classification   2010  2010  2009  2009 
   

No. of Staff 
 

Percentage 
 

No. of Staff  
 

Percentage 
          
Gender Female 58 50.9% 61  51.2% 
 Male 56 49.1% 58  48.7% 

  114  100% 119  100% 

         
Race White  48 42.1% 49      41.1% 
 Coloured 11 9.6% 14  11.8% 
 Black 33 28.9% 40  33.6% 
 Indian 18 15.8% 14  11.8% 
 Other 4 3.5% 2  1.7% 

  114  100% 119  100% 

         
Disabled Disabled 3 2.6% 3  2.5% 
 Not disabled 111 97.4% 116  97.5% 

  114  100% 119  100% 
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International activities 
 
Africa-general 
 
Strate is aligned to international best practices and continually strives to bring further efficiencies and 
enhancements for the good of the Southern Africa’s financial community. 
 
Strate actively participates as a member of the Committee of the SADC Stock Exchanges (“CoSSE”). Strate 
attended the CoSSE meeting and believe that good progress was made in 2010 as relationships are established 
which would benefit Strate in implementing its African strategy.    
 
AMEDA 
 
Strate actively participates in the AMEDA. The CEO of Strate is a member of the AMEDA Executive. 
 
Besides the attendance and participation in the AMEDA events during 2010, Strate and AMEDA are working hard 
in organizing the CSD11 conference as the hosting of the biannual event was awarded to AMEDA. The conference 
is taking place from 13 to 15 April 2011 in Cape Town, South Africa. 
 
We believe that the hosting of the prestigious event will benefit Strate and South Africa as attendees from around 
the world would be able to see the investment potential of Africa and the Middle East.  
 
ACSDA 
 
Strate is a member of ACSDA and actively participates and contributes to the association. The CEO of Strate is a 
member of the ACSDA Executive. 
 
Link-up Capital Markets S.L, Spain 
 
The CEO of Strate is a Board member of Link-up Capital Markets S.L, Spain. The appointment is extremely 
beneficial as the interaction with our international peers provides us with insights in respect of international 
developments which could be applied locally in order to further enhance securities services in South Africa. 
 
Other 
 
Strate representatives have been appointed to various industry working committees eg. Corporate Action 
committee of the International Security Services Association (“ISSA”), the IT, Legal and Risk working committee 
of ACSDA. Strate also represents South Africa on the UNIDROIT Emerging markets committee. 
 
The CEO of Strate is also a member of the Interim CSD, an international body that represents the views 
of the CSDs globally, to represent AMEDA and ACSDA. 
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Alternate Dispute Resolution 
 
In all its agreements, Strate ensures that a procedure exists for disputes to be dealt with in terms of an 
alternative dispute resolution procedure. This usually involves mediation between the parties in an effort to 
address the issues and also to preserve business relationships. In the event that mediation is not successful, 
a formal dispute resolution procedure is catered for through arbitration by a recognised independent 
arbitration organisation. 
 
Strate believes that this combination of informal and formal dispute resolution provides the most effective 
and efficient method of dealing with the conflict that inevitably arises during the course of doing business. 
 
 
Internal control 
 
The directors are responsible for the system of internal control and for regularly reviewing its 
effectiveness. 
 
To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, management sets standards and implements systems 
of internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The systems of 
internal control are also designed with fraud in mind as management aims to detect and prevent such 
incidents. These controls include: 
 
�  the proper delegation of responsibility within a clearly defined framework; 
�  effective accounting procedures; and 
�  adequate segregation of duties. 
 
The role of the internal audit function is to: 
 
�  assess the design and operating effectiveness of controls governing key operational processes and 

business risks; 
�  provide the Board with an assessment, independent of management, as to the adequacy of the internal 

operating and financial controls, systems and practices; 
�  assist the Board in meeting its corporate governance and regulatory responsibilities; and 
�  provide consulting services to management in order to enhance the control environment and improve 

business performance. 
 
Based on information provided by the internal and external auditors, and explanations provided by 
management, the directors are of the opinion that: 
 
�  the company’s internal controls are adequate and effective; and  
�  the company’s assets are protected and used as intended in all material respects with appropriate 

authorisation. 
 
Internal Audit at Strate has been outsourced to PricewaterhouseCoopers and is independent of the Risk 
Management and the Supervision functions. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

34 
 

 
Risk Management and Internal control report 
 
 
Risk management 
 
The focus of risk management is to identify, assess and implement controls for all the major risks to which 
there is an exposure. Although risk cannot be eliminated, actions to mitigate risk exposures are initiated by 
identifying risks and ensuring that the appropriate controls, systems, practices and ethics are implemented. 
 
Strate’s core business, as defined in its purpose, is to provide clearing, settlement and depository services 
for securities, enabling end-to-end pragmatic, reliable, innovative solutions that facilitate the management 
of risk and the realisation of value for all stakeholders. 
 
The risks that are faced by Strate and the market as a result of the electronic settlement process have been 
identified. The parties responsible for managing these risks in respect of equity, bond and money market 
settlements have also been identified and are reflected in the table below. References to Strate are in its 
capacity as the CSD. This section on risk management also refers to the limited proprietary risks Strate 
bears in managing its own affairs. 

 
Risk matrix - Electronic settlement in  the Strate environment  
 

 EQUITIES  

 
Type of risk 

 
Strate 

 
JSE**** 

 
CSDPs 

 
Brokers  

 

     
Principal No No No No 
Tainted scrip No No Yes Yes 
Settlement No Yes * Yes** Yes* 
Credit No Yes Yes Yes 
Liquidity No Yes Yes Yes 
Systemic Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Operational or technology Yes Yes Yes Yes 

 BONDS 
 
Type of risk 
�

 
Strate 

 
JSE 

 
CSDPs 

 
Brokers  

 
    

Principal No No Yes Yes 
Tainted scrip No No Yes Yes 
Settlement No No Yes Yes 
Credit No No Yes Yes 
Liquidity No No Yes Yes 
Systemic Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Operational or technology Yes Yes Yes Yes 
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Risk matrix - Electronic settlement in the Strate environment (continued) 
 

MONEY MARKET 
 

 
Type of risk 
�

Strate Exchange CSDPs Traders  

    
Principal No N/A*** Yes Yes 

Tainted scrip No     N/A*** Yes Yes 

Settlement No N/A*** Yes Yes 

Credit No N/A*** Yes Yes 

Liquidity No N/A*** Yes Yes 

Systemic Yes N/A*** Yes Yes 
Operational or technology Yes N/A*** Yes Yes 
 
* T + 0 to final confirmation  ** From final confirmation  
***      No formal exchange   **** The JSE Settlement Authority 
 
Principal risk  
  
Definition  
Principal risk is the risk that a party to a trade will lose the full value involved in the transaction. This could 
occur when there is a disconnection between the payment and the transfer of ownership of the securities.  
 
Equities 
There is no principal risk in Strate as the settlement model is to reserve the securities, effect payment of 
funds in Central Bank funds using the Continuous Batch Processing Line (“CBPL”) functionality and, 
without any delay, transfer ownership of the securities at the CSDP level. Transfer is final and irrevocable 
in law. Strate complies with the Simultaneous Final Irrevocable Delivery versus Payment (“SFIDvP”) 
principle. This ensures that the final and irrevocable transfer of the securities occurs simultaneously with 
the final and irrevocable transfer of cash in Central Bank funds. 
 
Bonds and Money Market Instruments 
The situation is the same as described above, except that Continuous Processing Line (“CPL”) payment 
functionality is used for Bond settlements and the Real Time Line (“RTL”) for Money Market Instruments. 

 

  
Tainted scrip risk 
 
Definition 
 
Tainted scrip risk arises when security certificates which are tainted are dematerialised into the Strate 
environment.  
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Risk matrix - Electronic settlement in  the Strate environment (continued) 
 
Equities 
Strate bears no tainted scrip risk as, once in Strate, the record is sacrosanct and no rectification is possible. 
Strate does not take responsibility for the dematerialisation process. The sub-registers, where the record of 
ownership of investors is kept, are maintained by CSDPs. 
 
Bonds 
The situation is the same as described above except for the fact that in the Bond environment 
dematerialisation and immobilisation is allowed.  
 
Money Market Instruments 
The situation for Money Market Instruments is similar to those described above in that Strate has no 
responsibility for those Money Market Instruments which are still held in paper form. 
 
Settlement risk (also known as replacement cost risk, which includes price risk) 
 
Definition 
Settlement risk is the risk that a party to an open transaction, for completion at a future date, will fail to 
perform on the settlement date. This failure may leave the counterparty with an unhedged or open market 
position, or deny the counterparty unsettled gains on the position. The resulting exposure is the cost of 
replacing, at current market prices, the original transaction. 
 
Equities  
Strate bears no settlement/replacement cost or price risk. For on-market trades between two brokers, the JSE 
Limited (“the JSE”) accepts settlement and price risk for both cash and securities if the broker that 
introduced the trade is unable to settle. The JSE, in turn, has recourse against the broker that introduced the    
trade for the price risk and an administration charge will be levied as part of the penalty stipulated in terms 
of the JSE rules. For off-market trades, if settlement does not take place, the trade is taken out of the system 
at end of day on T + 5 (five business days after transaction date) and it is left to the contracting parties to 
remedy the “failed trade”. In addition, the CSDPs may facilitate the settlement process for off-market trades 
by reporting the off-market instruction to the CSD for the next available settlement date. This facilitation 
process may continue for a maximum of five business days after the settlement date of the original 
instruction, after which the original instruction will be cancelled. 

 

  
Bonds 
Strate bears no settlement/replacement cost or price risk. In general the JSE does not bear the risk either. 
The JSE only bears the risk for both cash and securities in the event of broker default. The JSE has a 
guarantee fund in place for these events. 

 

  
Money Market Instruments 
Strate bears no settlement / replacement cost or price risk. In the event that a transaction does not settle it 
will be deemed to have failed and it is left to the contracting parties to remedy this. 
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Risk matrix - Electronic settlement in  the Strate environment (continued) 
 
Credit risk 
 
Definition 
Credit risk refers to the risk borne in the event of a counterparty not settling an obligation for full value, 
either when due or at any time thereafter. Credit risk comprises the risk of loss from a counterparty 
defaulting during settlement. 
 
Equities 
Strate bears no credit risk in respect of the settlement process. Credit risk is borne by the CSDPs in respect 
of settlements for which they have irrevocably committed to settle. The JSE, on behalf of its members, 
also assumes credit risk exposure in respect of those transactions introduced by them and to which the 
CSDPs are not prepared / unable to add their commitment. 
 
Strate is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business. 
 
Bonds 
Strate bears no credit risk in respect of the settlement process. Credit risk is borne by the CSDPs in respect 
of settlements for which they have irrevocably committed to settle.  The only instance where the JSE may 
bear the risk will be in the event of Broker default, as explained under settlement risk above. 
 
Money Market Instruments 
Strate bears no credit risk in respect of the settlement process. Transactions are settled on a gross trade-by-
trade basis and, as with equities and bonds, any credit risk is borne by the CSDPs or the contracting parties 
themselves. 
 
Strate is exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Definition 
Liquidity risk is the risk that a party will not have sufficient liquidity, i.e. cash or securities, to meet its 
settlement obligations.  
 
Equities 
Strate bears no liquidity risk as it neither acts as a bank or deals with investors directly. It only deals with 
CSDPs. The CSDPs, the JSE and its members bear liquidity risk. 
 
Bonds 
Strate bears no liquidity risk as it neither acts as a bank or deals with investors directly. It only deals with 
CSDPs, who bears any liquidity risk.  The only instance where the JSE may bear the risk will be in the 
event of Broker default, as explained under settlement risk above. 
 
Money Market Instruments 
Strate bears no liquidity risk as it neither acts as a bank or deals with investors directly. The management 
of liquidity risk, particularly in respect of the securities, has been significantly enhanced with the adoption 
of an SOR which would immediately highlight whether a trade has been entered into without the 
necessary securities being available in the system for settlement. 
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Risk matrix - Electronic settlement in  the Strate environment (continued) 
 
Systemic risk 
 
Definition 
Systemic risk refers to the scenario when a disruption at a CSDP, the JSE, Strate or the Central Bank could 
cause a “domino effect” throughout the financial markets.  
 
Equities 
One aspect of the regulation of the CSDPs by STRATE Supervision is the mitigation systemic risk in the 
clearing and settlement of securities transactions. 
 
Bonds 
The situation is the same as explained above for equities. 
 
Money Market Instruments 
While similar in many respects to the other markets, the fact that Money Market transactions are settled on a 
gross trade-by-trade basis in a T + 0 environment further enhances the management of systemic risk in the 
clearing and settlement of these transactions. 
 
Operational risk and technology risk 
 
Definition 
Operational and technology risk is the risk that improper operations, trade processing or management systems 
will result in financial loss. It includes the risk of loss due to a breakdown in internal controls.  
 
Equities, Bonds and Money Market Instruments 
On the financial side, proper management procedures including adequate books and records are maintained. 
Strong internal controls have been implemented and are reviewed regularly to ensure that the risk exposures 
are mitigated. 
 
The controls that Strate has implemented to manage its risk exposure are categorised as follows: 
 
�  Management controls; 
�  Financial controls; 
�  Operational controls; 
�  System and data processing controls; and 
�  Business continuity. 
 
The board has satisfied itself regarding the effectiveness of risk management and controls. 
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Management controls 
 
Controls throughout Strate are a key accountability of line management and are monitored on an ongoing 
basis by management to ensure compliance with documented policies and operational procedures.  
 
Management controls are an integral part of the control environment of the company. Management has to 
ensure that the risks in their respective areas of responsibility are managed within the tolerance levels of the 
company. 
 

 

Compliance with documented policies and operational procedures, which are accessible to all employees, is 
part of Strate’s terms of employment. 
 
To ensure that the staff is adequately informed, human resource policies and procedures are communicated 
on an ongoing basis. 

 

 
Financial controls 
 
Comprehensive financial controls are implemented to ensure that: 
 
�  Financial information is reliable; and  
�  Assets are safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposal. 
 
Financial information is used in decision-making and preparation of management reports and financial 
statements. Regular communication of accounting conventions, taxation and other relevant information takes 
place to ensure that the finance staff is equipped to produce reliable financial information. Strate actively 
encourages all staff to use the training allowances. 
 
Financial planning is also key as Strate’s solvency and ability to operate as a going concern needs to be 
ensured and managed. Strate’s revenues are dependent on the trading volumes of securities. Strate has to have 
the resources, means and ability to see through prolonged periods of adverse trading conditions, as well as 
potential contingencies. Information on matters such as operating and capital expenditure, identification of 
contingent liabilities, insurance cover, legislation and fluctuation in trading volumes is used in performing 
sensitivity analyses. The sensitivity analyses provide information on the impact on various key items, such as 
cash and profitability. 
 
Internal controls are documented. Regular review of these controls takes place and, where necessary, these 
are updated to ensure appropriateness. 
 
A high degree of segregation of duties and delegation of authority is achieved despite a relatively small staff 
compliment. Care is taken to ensure that staff members are not able to perform tasks or execute transactions 
from beginning to end. Management review and oversight plays an important role in mitigating the risk to 
acceptable levels in areas where it is not possible to segregate duties and delegate authority. The controls are 
considered to be adequate. 
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Operational controls 
 
Operational procedures with respect to clearing, settlement and corporate action processing are largely 
automated and an integral part of the CSD system. There were no significant weaknesses or areas of 
concern, but recommendations have been provided to automate some of these manual processes to 
eliminate manual intervention as far as possible and to further improve Straight Through Processing 
(“STP”). 

 

  
The operational controls are based on the following key principles that are consistent with internationally 
recognised standards for securities settlement systems: 
 
�  SFIDvP in Central Bank funds. 

 
The settlement model involves the reservation of securities balances, the transfer of value in Central 
Bank funds and the simultaneous release and transfer of securities. This provides the basis for SFIDvP 
which is enabled by Strate and the South African Multiple Options System (“SAMOS”) which 
provide for the electronic transfer of securities and funds respectively. 

 

  
�  Rolling settlement cycle on a trade day plus basis. 

 
The time as to when a trade will settle is easily determinable. Settlement of a trade is scheduled based 
on the settlement cycle applicable to the type of security. On market equity trades currently settle on a 
T+5 basis, on market bond trades on a T+3 basis and money market trades on a T+ 0 basis. 
 

�  Risk based 
 
Controls are implemented to manage the risk inherent in the specific transaction or process. 
 

�  Group settlement 
 
Equity settlement obligations are grouped per security and per dependency. The groups formed are 
structured in a manner to minimize and isolate the impact of a settlement failure to a specific group. 
 
Bond settlement is not ring fenced as settlement is a process and a single fail could result in total 
settlement failure. The settlement process limitation is proactively managed and monitored.   
 
There is no grouping in respect of settlements for money market securities.   
 

�  Efficient netting 
 

The settlement systems in respect of equities and bonds have functionality that nets cash and / or 
security positions. This functionality limits the number of transfers between safe custody accounts and 
reduces the cash funding requirements of the Central Bank by the settling banks . 
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Operational controls (continued)  

 
�  Securities lending and borrowing 

 
The securities lending and borrowing functionality improves liquidity and reduces the risk of failed 
settlement. Securities can be sourced by willing borrowers from willing lenders to expedite settlement 
in an extremely automated and secure environment where collateral and securities pass simultaneously 
in one group settlement. 

 
�  Corporate actions- automation 

 
The corporate action process enables electronic payment of entitlements in Central Bank funds on due 
date. There are certain manual activities that present risk, but those are closely controlled. 
 
Payments to Participants are only made once Strate has been funded, thereby eliminating credit risk. 
The rolling contractual basis of settlement ensures that market claims are eliminated. 

 
�  Minimum participant eligibility standards 

 
Applicants are required to meet minimum standards in order to be accepted as a Participant, and once 
approved and accepted, to continue to operate as a Participant. 
Eligibility standards are risk-based to ensure that the clearing and settlement processes are, and remain 
to be, of a high standard given the potential systemic risk implications. 

 

 
IT Governance  
 
The effective and efficient management of IT resources to facilitate the achievement of the strategic 
objectives has been a key focus during the year under review. 
 
The assessment and management of IT related risks have been fully integrated in the company’s overall risk 
management framework and is monitored. We are also focused on ensuring that the benefits of the 
investments are realised. 

 

  
Business continuity 
 
A fully documented Business Continuity Plan exists to deal with a potential business interruption in 
operations or systems, effectively and efficiently. The plan ensures that the business of the company will 
continue in the event of an emergency. Strate has a fully mirrored disaster recovery site at a separate site. 
The Disaster recovery site and related processes that have been implemented represent an integral part of 
the total business continuity plan. 
 
Procedures for the back-up and retention of data exist. Information is regularly backed up and stored in a 
secure off-site location. 
 
Elements of the Business Continuity Plan are tested on a regular basis to ensure that the stated objectives 
are satisfactorily achieved. Regarding employee continuity the notice period for Exco is 3 months while the 
CEO is subject to a 6 month notice period. 
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Audit and Risk committee report for the year ended 31 December 2010  
 
 

 

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year  
 
1.1 Audit and Risk committee charter 
 
The audit and risk committee has adopted formal terms of reference as its audit committee charter which 
has been approved by the board of directors. The committee conducted its affairs in compliance with this 
charter and has discharged its responsibilities contained therein.  
 
1.2 Committee membership and attendance at meetings 
 
The committee consists of three independent  non-executive directors and a non-executive director and 
meets at least four times per year. 
 
The CEO, CFO, COO, CIO, Head of Risk and other members of management (as appropriate) attend the 
meetings by invitation. Representatives from the external and internal auditors and the Financial Services 
Board are also in attendance. 
 
The Committee makes use of a number of subject matter experts to guide it in the execution of its duties.  
 
During the year under review four meetings were held. 
 

 

  
 

Member Classification 10 
March 
2010 

3 
May 
2010 

29 
July 
2010 

8 
November 

2010 

Total 

       
Ms A van der Merwe 
(Chairman) 

Independent Y Y Y Y 4 

Mr RM Loubser Non-Executive Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr NG Payne Independent Y Y Y Y 4 
Ms S V Zilwa  Independent Y Y N N 2 
Mr H Swanepoel Invitee Y Y N Y 3 
Ms M Singer (CEO) Invitee Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr H van Eeden (CFO) Invitee Y Y Y Y 4 
Mr DG Connock Invitee N Y Y Y 3 
Mr M Puri (CIO) Invitee N/A Y N Y 2 
Mr A van Eden (COO) Invitee Y Y Y Y 4 
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1.3 Roles and responsibilities 
 
The roles and responsibilities of the committee include its statutory duties per Companies Act, 1973 and the 
responsibilities assigned to it by the board. 
 
1.3.1 Statutory duties 
 
In the conduct of its duties, the committee has performed the following statutory duties: 
 
�  Nominated for appointment as auditor of the company a registered auditor who, in the opinion of the 

committee, is independent of the company; 
�  Determined the fees to be paid to the auditor and the auditor’s terms of engagement; 
�  Ensured that the appointment of the auditor complies with the Companies Act, 1973 and any other 

legislation relating to the appointment of auditors; 
�  Determined the nature and extent of any non-audit services that the auditor may provide to the 

company; and 
�  Pre-approved any proposed agreement with the auditor for the provision of non-audit services to the 

company. 
 
External auditor  
 
The committee has satisfied itself that the external auditor was independent of the company, as set out in 
section 94(8) of the Companies Act, 1973 which includes consideration of compliance with criteria relating 
to independence or conflicts of interest as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. 
Requisite assurance was sought and provided by the auditor that internal governance processes within the 
audit firm support and demonstrate their claim to independence. The committee, in consultation with 
executive management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted audit fees for the 
2011 year. 
 
 
The Strate Limited External Auditors policy sets out the principles and guidelines for the use of the external 
auditors for non-audit services. No non-audit services were provided by the external auditors during the 
year under review. 
 
The committee has nominated, for approval at the annual general meeting, KPMG as the external audit firm 
and Mr R Warren-Tangney the individual auditor responsible for performing the functions of auditor, for 
the 2011 year.  
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1.3.2 Duties assigned by the board 
 
The committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the company’s integrated report and the reporting process, 
including the system of internal financial control. It is responsible for ensuring that the outsourced internal 
audit function is independent and has the necessary resources, standing and authority within the 
organisation to enable it to discharge its duties. Furthermore, the committee oversees cooperation between 
the internal and external auditors, and serves as a link between the board of directors and these functions. 
 
During the year, the committee met with the external and internal auditors without management being 
present. 
 
The audit committee is satisfied that it complied with its legal, regulatory or other responsibilities which 
includes the authority to decide on the use of the Special Purpose Reserve. 
 
Internal financial controls 
 
After due consideration of information and explanations given by management and discussions with the 
external auditor on the results of their audit, the audit and risk committee is of the opinion that the 
company’s system of internal financial controls is effective and forms a basis for the preparation of reliable 
financial statements. 
 
Financial Statements (including accounting practices) 
 
The committee has reviewed the financial statements of the company and is satisfied that they comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Going concern 
 
The committee reviewed a documented assessment by management of the going concern premise of the 
company before concluding to the board that the company will be a going concern in the foreseeable future. 
 
Expertise and experience of financial director and finance function 
 
The committee has satisfied itself that the CFO has appropriate expertise and experience. 
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Risk management 
 
The board has assigned oversight of the company’s risk management function to this committee. The 
committee fulfils an oversight role regarding : 
 

�  The adequacy of the nature, intent and effectiveness of the risk and control infrastructure within the 
Strate environment as well as the development and maintenance of a comprehensive, dynamic 
system of internal and external controls to ensure Strate’s own adherence to the CSD rules; 

 
�  the review of, and compliance with, the risk philosophy, strategies and policies of the company; 

and 
 

�  the review of risk identification and measurement methodologies employed within the company.  
 
 
Internal audit 
 
The committee has considered and recommended the internal audit charter for approval by the board and 
has approved the annual audit plan. 
 
The internal audit function has been outsourced to PricewaterhouseCoopers and reports centrally with 
responsibility for reviewing and providing assurance on the adequacy of the internal control environment 
across all of the company’s operations. The engagement partner is responsible for reporting the findings of 
the internal audit work against the agreed internal audit plan to the committee on a regular basis. 
 
The engagement partner has direct access to the audit committee, primarily through its chairman. 
 
Whistle-blowing 
 
The committee is satisfied that adequate and appropriate provision is made for whistle-blowing. No 
instances requiring action were encountered during the year under review. 
  
Sustainability reporting 
 
The committee has considered the company’s sustainability information as disclosed in the integrated report 
and has assessed its consistency with operational and other information known to committee members. The 
committee is satisfied that the sustainability information is reliable and consistent with the financial results. 
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Recommendation of the integrated report for approval by the board 
 
The committee has, at its meeting held on 2 March 2011, recommended the integrated report for approval 
by the board of directors. 
 

 

At this juncture it would be appropriate, on behalf of the board, to express my sincere gratitude to my 
fellow committee members for their efforts and contributions during the year as well as to management, the 
auditors and the user community for their ongoing support. 
 

 

 
 

Ms A van der Merwe 
Chairman, Audit and Risk Committee 
Independent Non-executive  
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Remunerations committee report for the year ended 31 December 2010   

 
The overall objective of the committee is to make recommendations to the board in the discharge of its 
duties relating to remuneration. 
 
The committee met once on the 16th of November 2010. The attendance at the meeting was as follows:  

 
Member Classification 16 November 2010  Total       

          
Mr ME King  (Chairman)* Independent Y 1       
Ms MJ Singer Saul (CEO) Invitee Y 1       
Mr RSM Ndlovu Independent Y 1       
Mr RM Loubser Non-Executive  Y 1       
Mr NG Payne Independent Y 1       
          
The committee reviewed and considered various issues referred to it by the Board. Issues worth noting 
were as follows: 

  

   
�  The committee recommended the remuneration of the CEO and senior management and approved the 

overall salary increase of 5,67%; 
 

  

�  The committee recommended a 8,0% increase in remuneration in Non-executive directors fees;  
 

�  The committee reviewed and recommended Short-term and Ex-gratia bonuses. Ex-gratia bonus total 
is R7 556 189. 

 
�  The committee reviewed and recommended the Long-term incentive scheme. 
 

  

 

 

 
Details of non-executive directors’ remuneration for the year under review and as proposed for the 2011 year  
are set out below. Detailed information in this regard is set out in note 25 of the company’s financial statements. 
 
Non-executive directors’ fees 2011 2010 
 Retainer Meetings Retainer Meetings 
 R R R R 
     
Chairman of the Board 343 272 16 528 317 844 15 304 
Lead Independent Director (excluding board fee) 50 855 - - - 
Chairman of the Remunerations and Nominations 
committee (excluding board fee) 

50 855 16 528 47 088 15 304 

Chairman of the Audit and Risk committee 
(excluding board fee) 

88 996 16 528 82 404 15 304 

Chairman of the Regulatory and Supervisory 
committee (excluding board fee) 

88 996 16 528 82 404 15 304 

Chairman of the Transformation committee 
(excluding board fee) 

- - 47 088 R12 949 

Board Members 63 569 13 985 58 860 12 949 
Attendance by board members at sub-committee 
meetings by invitation 

- 13 985 - 12 949 

Hourly rates for unscheduled meetings - 1 907 - 1 766 
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Remuneration of other members of the Executive Committee (“EXCO”), that are not directors,  
for 2010 are as follows: (executive directors’ emoluments are disclosed in note 25) 
 
Name Function Salary 

 
R’000 

Bonus and 
LTI 

R’000 

Total 
 

R’000 
     
Mrs MR Vermaas Head- Legal Services 1 465 1 874 3 339 
Mr DG Connock Head- Risk 959 1 250 2 209 
Ms BL Furman Head- Supervision 1 009 1 310 2 319 

Ms T Knowles Head- Marketing 980 1 256 2 236 
Mr M Puri CIO 1 254 949 2 203 
Mr IG Seymour-Smith Head- Custody and 

Settlement 1 186 1 246 2 432 
Ms FL Gumede Head- Human Resources and 

Transformation  800 466 1 266 
Ms L Bevis Head- Relationship 

Management 650 477 1 127 
 
Remuneration Structure and Policies 
 
1.  Introduction 
 
The policy document provides guidelines applicable to remuneration of employees. 
 
We believe that employees should be fairly remunerated and compensated as this contributes to the  
sustainability of the company. The philosophy adopted for sharing profits in the company is as follows: 
 
1.1   Company 

The company retains 30% of the Net Profit After Tax (“NPAT”) to fund operations and growth. 

1.2   Shareholders 

The Shareholders share in NPAT by receiving dividends. The current dividend policy is 2 times cover, 
which is a 50% pay-out ratio. 
 
1.3  Employee share 
 
The employee’s share of NPAT is 20%. This consists of two incentives, namely the  Ex-gratia bonus, which 
is 10% of NPAT and the Long Term Incentive scheme, which is the other 10%. The 10% allocated to the 
Long Term Incentive is linked to the dividend policy as 20% of the dividend pay-out ratio, which is currently 
50% pay-out ratio (dividend cover of 2). 
 
 This share of 20% is over and above the annual salaries and short term bonus policy. 
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Remuneration Structure and Policies (continued) 
 
2. The remuneration structure of Strate consists of the following components: 
 
2.1 Salary 
 
The company adopted the total Cost to Company (“CTC”) approach. The CTC of employees are market  
related and are benchmarked against industry information on a regular basis. . Strate utilises an internet-
based remuneration survey which provides data across a wide variety of industries in South Africa 
including the Financial industry. The Company has further adopted a policy of paying salaries that are 
above the median and that employees are not paid less than 70 percent of the 75th percentile 
 
2.2 Short-term bonus 
 
The short-term bonus policy is designed to reward employees for their contribution to the success of the  
company each year. Employees are rewarded for their performance against their specific objectives,  
which are aligned to the objectives of the company. The short-term bonus, which is paid annually, 
ranges from 1 to 5,7 times monthly cost to company depending on an employee’s seniority and 
performance. 
 
2.3 Ex -Gratia bonus 
 
Strate declares an Ex-Gratia bonus pool to employees amounting to 10% of Net Profit After Tax 
(“NPAT”).  
 
Employees share in the Ex-Gratia bonus pool on a pro-rated basis, which is calculated by expressing the 
employee’s short term bonus received, as per the short term bonus policy, as a percentage of the total 
short term bonus paid to employees. 
 
The Ex-Gratia bonus is paid in two payments. The first payment, equating to 75% of the estimated Ex-
Gratia pool paid to qualifying employees in November of that year. The balance of the Ex- Gratia bonus 
pool is calculated once the audited NPAT has been determined and paid in March/April of the following 
year. 
 
2.4 Long Term Incentive (“LTI”) 

 
The LTI scheme was implemented on 1st January 2006 in order to retain key and critical employees over 
the long term period to assist the company in achieving its strategic objectives in line with the Board and 
shareholder’s expectations.  
 
Participation is determined annually for each new LTI pool. In order to determine participation, 
evaluation criteria, which includes a minimum performance management rating, specialised skills or 
knowledge and marketability was used. 
 
The LTI pool is calculated using pre-agreed formulae determined by the Remunerations Committee and 
approved by the Board. At the introduction of the LTI scheme, the LTI pool was determined at 20% of 
the normal dividend, excluding any special dividends, declared. The Remunerations Committee and 
Board retain the discretion to change the formulae at any point in time for the determination of future 
LTI pools. In 2009 LTI pool was determined at 16% of the normal dividend, excluding any special 
dividends, declared. The 2010 LTI pool was based on 20% allocation. 
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Remuneration Structure and Policies (continued) 
 
Participants’ share in the LTI pool is on a pro-rated basis. Each Participant is allocated a specific 
multiple, ranging from 2 to 5 of their annual CTC, based on the participant’s seniority in the company.  
 
A participants interest in the LTI pool is calculated by expressing the participants annual CTC, times the 
multiple allocated to each participant, as a percentage of the total annual CTC, times the multiples for all 
participants of the LTI pool. 
 
The accumulated participation interest of each participant is capped not to exceed the participants annual 
CTC times the multiple allocated, and in addition, is not to exceed 20% of the LTI pool. 
 
The LTI scheme is a five year cycle scheme with payments spread equally in years 3, 4 and 5. 
 
The first payment to eligible participants was made in December 2008 based on the 2006 results. The 
second payment was made in December 2009 based on one third of 2006 results and one third of 2007 
results. In December 2010, the third and the last tranche of  2006 results, the one third of 2007 results 
and the one third of 2008 results were paid out to the participants.   
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Nominations committee report for the year ended 31 December 2010  
  
The overall objective of the committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of 
Directors. 

 

  
During the year the committee met twice, on 16 March 2010 and 21 July 2010. The attendance at the 
meeting was as follows: 

 

 
Member Classification 16 March 

 2010 
 21 July 
 2010 

Total 

     
Mr ME King (Chairman)* Independent Y Y 2 
Ms MJ Singer Saul (CEO) Invitee N Y 1 
Mr RM Loubser Non-Executive Y Y 2 
Mr RSM Ndlovu Independent Y N 1 

 
  
The committee reviewed and considered various issues. Those worth noting were as follows: 
 

 

  
�  The committee members recommended the appointment Ms N Andrykowsky as a Non-executive   

director to replace SPM Yates as he was retiring from the organisation he represented; 
 

  
�  The committee recommended the appointment Mr H van Eeden as executive director to the board;  
  
�  The committee reviewed the composition of the board and it’s committees and was satisfied with the 

compositions; 
 

  
�  The committee reviewed the process for board appointments and the policy regarding director rotation;  
  
�  The committee noted  the outside board chairmanship of the board chairman;   
  
�  The committee approved the role of the CEO and Chairman as set out in the Board Charter;  

  
�  The committee  noted that succession planning regarding senior management was aligned with the 

current succession planning policy and with regard to Board members, a formalised policy still needs 
to be introduced; and 

 

  
�  The committee satisfied itself that the responsibility of Chief Risk Officer, Chief Infomation Officer 

and Compliance Officer, as recommended in King III , is duly covered by Exco members.   
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Regulatory and Supervisory committee report for the year ended 31 
December 2010 
 
The Strate Board, as the Controlling Body, is responsible for compliance with the Securities Services 
Act (“SSA”). It has delegated this responsibility to the Strate Regulatory and Supervisory Committee 
(“the Committee”). This independent committee of the Board is specifically tasked with overseeing the 
regulatory and supervisory strategy and performance.  
 
One of the main roles of the Committee is to, inter alia, supervise the activities of the Central Securities 
Depository Participants (“Participants”) and specifically monitor their compliance with the SSA and 
Rules.  
 
The SSA sets out a framework of basic principles for market regulation leaving much of the detailed 
substantive provisions to secondary legislation. Strate is required to regulate the activities of its 
Participants by making, supervising and enforcing Rules and Directives that comply with the 
requirements of the SSA.  
 

Strate’s regulatory functions, namely the issuance and amendment of Rules within the framework of the 
SSA, and the issuance, amendment and rescinding of Directives result from these provisions and are 
performed by Strate’s Legal division. The SSA further imposes supervisory and enforcement 
responsibilities on Strate. The Supervision division (STRATE Supervision) is responsible for 
discharging these responsibilities. The legislation enables a co-regulatory regime of supervision.  
 

Strate is accountable to the Financial Services Board (“FSB”) for ensuring that the objectives of the SSA 
are met by Strate in performing its function as a self-regulatory organisation (“SRO”). 
 
The committee ensures that the activities of Strate (operating as a CSD) can be appropriately separated 
from the activities of Strate operating as a SRO. This self-regulatory function has the potential for 
conflicts of interest to exist, or be perceived to exist, between the supervisory function and the other 
activities performed by Strate. As a result, appropriate “Chinese walls” have been established between 
these two functions. The activities of STRATE Supervision and Strate operations are segregated. 
 
Under the SSA and Rules of Strate, power and responsibility is conferred upon the Board as the  
Controlling Body to: 
 
�  make, alter and rescind Rules and Directives; 
�  enforce the Rules and Directives; 
�  initially admit Participants and monitor their suitability to remain Participants; 
�  monitor Participants’ compliance with the Rules and Directives; 
�  monitor the record keeping, internal controls and risk management procedures of the Participants;  
�  approve Nominees in terms of Section 36(1)(b) of the SSA and Directive SAN; and 
�  carry out enforcement, investigation and disciplinary functions. 

 
A separate Regulatory and Supervisory or SRO Report is published annually which details the 
regulatory and supervisory activities of Strate. Previous reports can be obtained from Strate’s offices or 
from the website www.strate.co.za.  
 
The committee conducted a Self-Assessment during November 2010. The results will be presented to 
the board in March 2011. 
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December 2010 
 
Only one change to the composition of the committee took place during 2010. Ms SV Zilwa resigned as a director 
and member of the committee on 9th November 2010. 
 
The other members of the committee were: 
Mr MR Johnston 
Mr NG Payne 
Mr MJ Stocks 
Ms A van der Merwe 
 
Observers 
Representative of the:  
Financial Services Board (FSB), Ms A Manganyi 
JSE – Mr S Davies 
CEO of Strate – Ms MJ Singer Saul 
 
Members and observers on this committee recuse themselves when a matter discussed involves confidential 
information relating to any potential conflict of interest situation. 
 
The committee met five times during 2010.  
 
The table below records attendance at meetings: 
 

 10 March 
2010 

6 May  
2010 

22 July 
2010 

30 September 
2010 

26 October 
2010 

Total 

       
Members:           
Mr RJG Barrow Y Y Y Y Y  5 
Mr MR Johnston Y Y Y Y Y 5 
Mr NG Payne Y Y Y N Y 4 
Mr MJ Stocks Y N Y N N 2 
Ms A van der 
Merwe Y Y Y Y N 

4 

Ms SV Zilwa  Y Y Y N N 3 
        
Observers       
FSB Y N Y Y Y 4 
Mr S Davies - JSE N Y Y Y Y 4 
       
       
Ms MJ Singer Saul N Y Y N N 2 

 
Y = attended meeting 
N = did not attend meeting 
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December 2010 
 
Note:  
Special purpose meetings are generally called on short notice to discuss matters requiring immediate attention. 
The meeting on 30th September 2010 constituted a special purpose meeting. 
 
The Committee is satisfied that all material issues arising from its Terms of Reference have been dealt with. 
 
I would like to thank the members of the Committee and relevant members of Strate’s staff for their contributions 
to the Committee’s activities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr RJG Barrow 
Chairman, Regulatory and Supervisory Committee 
Independent Non-executive 
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Transformation committee report for the year ended 31 December 2010  

  
The Transformation committee was established on 6 September 2007 to assist the Board in defining a 
transformation agenda in line with the Code of Good Practice in Black Economic Empowerment and the 
proposed Financial Sector Charter. 

 

  
During 2010, the committee met on the 03rd November 2010. Attendance at the meeting was as follows:  

 
Member Classification 3 November 

2010 
Total 

    
Mr RSM Ndlovu (Chairman) Independent Y 1 
Mr PL Campher Independent Y 1 
Mr RM Loubser Non-Executive Y 1 
Ms SV Zilwa Independent N 0 

 
 
The CEO and other members of management, as appropriate, attend the meetings by invitation. 
 
The committee reviewed and considered the following issues: 
 
�  Strate’s BEE Strategy;  
�  BEE Scorecard elements;  
�  Disbanding the Committee  
 
Strate obtained B-BBEE Level 3 rating with an empowerment recognition of 110% for the financial year 
which ended 31 December 2009. In addition Strate is classified as a value-added supplier which means 
that an additional 25% can be claimed, customers would therefore be able to claim 137,5% of each rand 
spent with Strate for B-BBEE purpose. 
 
During 2010, Strate continued to put more emphasis on the alignment of Strategic business and 
transformation imperatives. In executing its transformation strategy, Strate remains focused on providing 
clearing, settlement and depository services while ensuring good corporate governance and citizenship. 

 

 
 
Mr RSM Ndlovu 
Chairman, Transformation committee 
Independent Non-executive 
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Value added statement  
 
  2010  2009 
 Notes R'000  R'000 
     
Revenue  276 136  258 103 
Other income  1 673  1 732 
Paid to suppliers for services rendered  (81 695)  (69 388) 
Value added  196 114  190 447 
(Profit)/Loss on sale of fixed assets  359  (25) 
Finance income  7 921  10 632 
Total wealth created  204 394  201 054 
     
Wealth Distribution:     
Personnel expenses and Directors’ emoluments 1 83 680  79 838 
Finance expenses  -  - 
     
Government 2 31 072  35 991 
     
Reinvested to maintain and develop operations  242 872  214 792 
Depreciation  21 818  17 737 
Retained earnings  213 063  198 873 
Deferred tax release  7 991  (1 818) 
     
Value added ratios:     
Number of employees (31 December)  114  119 
Revenue per employee (R'000)  2 422  2 169 
Wealth created per employee (R'000)   1 793  1 690 
     
NOTES     
     
All amounts are paid in accordance with agreed terms.     
     
1. Personnel expenses and Directors’ emoluments  70 852  70  091 
    Personnel remuneration   68 640  68 176 
    Employee Contributions to defined contribution plan   2 212  1 915 
     
    Directors’ emoluments (refer note 25)  12 828  9 747 
  83 680  79 838 
     
2. Central and local government:     
    Taxation  30 629  35 657 
    Skills development levy (“SDL”)  443  334 
  31 072  35 991 
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Directors’ responsibility for the annual financial statements 
 
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial 
statements, comprising the statement of financial position at 31 December 2010, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows  for the year then 
ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ report, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa (The Act). 

 

  
In order for the Board to discharge its responsibilities, management has developed and continues to 
maintain a system of internal financial control. The Board has ultimate responsibility for the system of 
internal controls and reviews the effectiveness of its operation. 

 

  
The internal controls include a risk-based system of internal accounting and administrative controls 
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions 
are executed and recorded in accordance with generally accepted business practices and the company’s 
policies and procedures. These controls are implemented by trained, skilled personnel with clearly defined 
lines of accountability and an appropriate segregation of duties. The controls are monitored by 
management and include a comprehensive budgeting and reporting system operating within strict 
deadlines and an appropriate control framework. 

 

  
The audit committee has been constituted in accordance with applicable legislation and regulations. The 
majority of the committee members are independent non-executive directors of the company.  
Four audit committee meetings were held during the year during which the members fulfilled all their 
functions as prescribed by The Act. A detailed report on the activities of the audit committee is contained 
in the corporate governance section of the annual report. The audit committee has satisfied itself that the 
auditors are independent of the company and are thereby able to conduct their audit functions without any 
influence from the company. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and incorporate responsible disclosure in line with the accounting philosophy of the company. 
The financial statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied, except as 
otherwise stated, and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

 

  
The directors believe that the company will be a going concern in the year ahead as set out in the directors’ 
report. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual financial 
statements.  

 

  
The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the annual financial statements are fairly presented in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 
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Directors’ responsibility for the annual financial statements 
 
Group annual financial statements 
 
Group annual financial statements for Strate Limited and its subsidiary company, CD Nominees 
(Proprietary) Limited have not been presented on a consolidated basis, on the basis that the consolidation 
will have no material effect on the financial position, performance and cash flows of the group. 
 
Approval of the annual financial statements 
 
The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 10 March 2011 and are signed on 
its behalf by: 
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Declaration by the company secretary 

In my capacity as company secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of the Companies Act, 1973, that for the year 
ended 31 December  2010, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are 
required of a public company in terms of this Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date. 
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Report of the Audit and Risk committee in terms of section 270A (1)(f) of the 
Companies Act of 1973 
 
The Corporate Laws Amendment Act 24 of 2006 (“CLAA”) came into effect on 14 December 2007. In 
compliance with the CLAA, an audit committee was appointed by the board of directors. 
 
During the financial year ended 31 December 2010, in addition to the duties set out in the audit & risk 
committee’s terms of reference, the audit & risk committee carried out its functions as follows: 
 

�  nominated the appointment of KPMG Inc. as the registered independent auditor after satisfying itself 
through enquiry that KPMG Inc and Mr R Warren-Tangney, the designated auditor  are independent as 
defined in terms of the CLAA; 

�  determined the fees to be paid to KPMG Inc. and their terms of engagement; 
�  ensured that the appointment of KPMG Inc. complied with the CLAA and any other legislation relating 

to the appointment of auditors; and 
�  satisfied itself with the appropriateness and expertise of the executive committee member responsible for 

finance. 
 
The audit & risk committee recommended the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 
for approval to the board. The board has subsequently approved the annual financial statements. 
 
A detailed report from the audit and risk committee is included on pages 43-47. 
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Directors’ report 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 
 
The directors have pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 31 December 2010. 

 

  
Principal activities  
  
Strate’s activities for the year under review include : 
 
�  Settlement of trades in securities listed on the JSE:  
�  Clearing of trades in securities; and 
�  Settlement of trades in Money Market Securities.  

 

  
Strate is also a licensed CSD in terms of the licence that was granted by the FSB. In terms of the licence, 
Strate assumes additional responsibilities in terms under CSD Rules and the Securities Services Act SSA. 
These include: 

 

  
�  the responsibility for the regulation of the business activities of the Equity and Bond participants; and  
�  the responsibility of the Board to be the controlling body of the CSD in addition to the Board’s normal 

fiduciary duties. 
 

  
Operating results  
  
During the year ended 31 December 2010, profit from operations increased by 5% to R95,9 million 
 (2009: R91,0 million). 
 
Revenues increased by 7% to R276,1 million (2009: R258,1 million), mainly as a result of an increase in 
volumes. 
 
Operating expenditure increased by 8% to R181,9 million (2009: R168,8 million), mainly as a result of: 
 
�  Depreciation and amortization as we acquired,  revised the useful lives and residual values of 

computer equipment. 
�  Personnel expenses and directors’ fees that increased as result of annual increases awarded. 

 

 

  
We are pleased with the performance and stability of Strate’s systems and applications, as well as those of 
the participants and the exchange, the JSE, during the year. 
 
Please refer to the CEO and Chairman’s report on pages 5 – 9 for additional information in respect of the 
Operating results. Furthermore, reference is made to the change in estimate relating to the Safires 
application – Note 23, page 100 and CEO and Chairman’s report in page 7. 
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Directors’ report 
 for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued)  
 
Share capital 

 

  
The company did not issue any shares during the year under review.  
  
Details of the company’s authorised and issued share capital appear in notes 15 and 16 to the annual 
financial statements. 

 

  
Ownership  
  
The shareholders  of Strate Limited and their percentage holdings at the date of this report, are as follows:  

 
  Current   2009 
  %  % 
     

JSE Limited  44,547 44,547 
Absa Bank Limited  12,679 12,679 
Citibank N.A.  0,103 0,103 
FirstRand Bank Limited  12,679 12,679 
Nedbank Limited  14,996 14,996 
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited  14,996 14,996 

  100,000 100,000 

 
Dividends  
  
The company declared and paid an ordinary dividend of R3 542 per share, based on a dividend policy of 2 
times cover, and a special dividend of R2 050 per share during the financial year, which was paid on  
30 April 2010. 
 
An ordinary dividend of R3 551 per share and a special dividend of R2 460 per share are proposed to be 
paid by 31 March 2011. 

 

  

Directors   
  
  
Directors’ appointments  
  
Mr MR Johnston  (Chairman, previously  

Non-executive director) 
(appointed 1 January 2011)  

Ms N Andrykowsky (Non-executive) (appointed 25 March 2010)  
Mr H van Eeden (Executive) (appointed 13 August 2010)  
   
Directors’ resignations 
 

  

Mr ME King (Chairman) (resigned 31 December 2010)  
Ms SV Zilwa (Independent Non-executive) (resigned 9 November 2010)  
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Directors’ report  
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

Company secretary and registered office  
The company secretary at the date of this report is H van Eeden.  
  
Business address Postal address   
  
9 Fricker Road PO Box 78608 
Illovo Boulevard, Illovo Sandton 
Sandton 2146 
2146  

 

  
Strate Limited, registration number 1998/022242/06 is incorporated and domiciled in South Africa.  
  
Contracts   
  
No contracts in which directors and officers had an interest and that significantly affected the affairs or 
business of the company were entered into during the year. 

 

  
Basis of presentation of financial information  
  
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in 
the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The accounting policies applied are consistent 
with those applied in the previous year. 

 

  
Going concern  
  
The directors believe that the company has adequate resources to continue as a going concern in the 
foreseeable future.  

 

  
Auditors  
  
KPMG Inc to continue in office as the auditors of Strate Limited.  
  
Post-balance sheet events  
  
No other material events occurred after the balance sheet date that would require adjustment or disclosure in 
the annual financial statements. 

 

  
CSD Participants  
  
The CSD participants at 31 December 2010 are:  

�  Absa Bank Limited �  Société Générale, Johannesburg Branch 
�  Computershare Limited �  The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 
�  FirstRand Bank Limited �  The South African Reserve Bank 
�  Nedbank Limited �  Eskom Limited (Corporate participant). 

 

 

 
 

 



 
 

65 
 

Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December  

 

     

 

  Note  2010  2009  
    R’000  R’000  
        
Revenue  4  276 136  258 103  
 
Other income 

 
  1 673  1 732 

 

 
Total income 

 
  277 809  259 835 

 

        
Operating expenditure    (181 881)  (168 812)  
Personnel expenditure and directors’  emoluments  5  (83 680)  (79 838)  
IT expenditure  5  (33 676)  (31 957)  
Depreciation and amortisation expense  5  (21 818)  (17 737)  
Impairment charge  5  (335)  (826)   
Other operating expenditure    ( 42 372)  ( 38 454)  
        
        
Profit from operations     95 928  91 023  
        
Finance income    7 921  10 632  
        
Profit before taxation    103 849  101 655  
        
Taxation  6  (34 558)  (32 546)  
        
Profit for the year    69 291  69 109  
        
Other comprehensive income    -  -  
        
Total comprehensive income    69  291   69 109  
 
 

 
     

 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (Rands)  7  7 102  7 084  
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Statement of financial position 
at 31 December     

  

                                                                                     Note  2010  2009 
   R’000  R’000 
Assets         

  

Non-current asset   76 000  81 715 
Property, plant and equipment 9  18 196  20 529 
Intangible assets 10  56 585  57 329 
Deferred tax asset 13  –  2 638 
Available-for-sale-financial assets 21  1 219  1 219 
         
Current assets      188 323  160 028 
Receiver of revenue      3 563  – 
Trade and other receivables    11  36 526  30 014 
Cash and cash equivalents    12  148 234   130 014 
         
         
 
Total assets      264 323  241 743 

         
Equity and liabilities         
         
Equity attributable to the owners      234 693  219 958 
Ordinary and preference share capital    15  10  10 
Retained earnings      213 063  198 873 
Other components of equity      21 620  21 075 
         
Non-current liabilities      5 353  – 
Deferred taxation    13  5 353  – 
         
Current liabilities      24 277  21 785 
Receiver of revenue      –  499 
Trade and other payables    17  15 810  12 020 
Employee benefits    24  8 467  9 266 
         

Total equity and liabilities      264 323  241 743 
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December  
 

Share 
capital  

Share 
premium  

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
fund 

 Special 
purpose 
reserve 
fund 

Retained 
earnings 

 
Total  

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  
        
Balance at  1 January 
2009 10 19 990 50  –  167 216 187 266  

          
Prior year adjustment – – –  –  3 339 3 339  
          
Total comprehensive 
income for the period          
          
Profit or loss – – –  –  69 109 69 109  
          
Other comprehensive 
income, net of income 
tax – – –  –  – –  

Transfer  – – –  1 035 (1 035) –  
 
 
Total comprehensive 
income for the period – – –  1 035 71 413 72 448  
         
Transactions with 
owners, recorded 
directly in equity         
         
Contributions by and 
distributions to owners         
         
Dividends to equity 
holders – – –  – ( 39 756) (39 756)  

Balance at 31 December 
2009 10 19 990 50  1 035 198 873 219 958  
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December (continued) 
 

Share 
capital  

Share 
premium  

Capital 
redemption 
reserve fund 

 Special 
purpose 
reserve 
fund 

Retained 
earnings 

 
Total  

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  
           
Balance at 1 January 
2010 10  19 990  50  1 035  198 873 219 958  

            
Total comprehensive 
income for the period            
            
Profit or loss –  –  –  –  69 291 69 291  
            

Other comprehensive 
income, net of income tax –  –  –  

 
 

–  – –  
 
Transfer –  –  –  545  (545) –  
 
 
Total comprehensive 
income for the period –  –  –  

 
 
 

545  68 746 69 291  
            
Transactions with 
owners, recorded directly 
in equity       

 
 
     

           
Contributions by and 
distributions to owners            
            
Dividends to equity 
holders –  –  –  

 
–  (54 556) (54 556)  

Balance at 31 December 
2010 10  19 990  50  

 

1 580  213 063 234 693   

  

Dividend per share :  
 
The company declared and paid an ordinary dividend of R3 542 (2009 : R4 075) per share and special dividend of 
R2 050 per share during the financial year.   
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 

      

 

  Note  2010  2009  
    R’000  R’000  
Cash flows from operating activities        
Cash generated by operations  19.1  114 585  110 850  
Finance income  19.2  7 921  10 632  
Taxation paid  19.3  (30 629)  (35 657)  
Dividends paid    (54 556)  (39 756)  

Net cash inflow from operating activities    37 321  46 069  

        
Cash flows from investing activities        
Investment in property, plant and equipment  9-10  (8 674)  (9 962)  
Investment to maintain operations    (8 674)  (9 962)  
Investments to expand operations    –  –  
        
Investment in intangibles  9-10  (10 653)  (23 519)  
Investment to maintain operations     (5 953)  (16 405)  
Investments to expand operations    (4 700)  (7 114)  
        
Investment in available for sale financial assets    –  (1 844)  
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets    226  312  

Net cash outflow from investing activities    (19 101)  (35 013)  

        
        
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    18 220  11 056  
        
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  12  130 014  118 958  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year    148 234  130 014  
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010  
 

 

1. Reporting  entity  
   
 Strate Limited is a company domiciled in South Africa. The address of the company’s registered office is:  

1st floor, 9 Fricker Road, 
Illovo Boulevard 
Illovo, Sandton  
2196 . 
 
The company is primarily involved in providing clearing, settlement and depository services for 
securities. 

 

   
2 Basis of preparation  
   
2.1 Statement of compliance  
   
 The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the South African Companies Act of 1973. 
 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of the Directors on 10 March 2011. 

 

   
2.2 Basis of measurement and presentation  
   
 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the items stated at fair 

value as described below in the notes. The financial statements are presented in Rand, which is the 
company’s functional currency, rounded to the nearest thousand. 

 

   
2.3 Use of estimates and judgements  
   
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

   
 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 

   
 In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in 

applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are included in the following notes: 

 

   
 Notes 3.3 and 9        -  Property, plant and equipment  

Notes 3.4  and 10     -  Intangible assets 
Notes 3.5, 5 and 10  -  Impairment of financial and non-financial assets.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 

 

3 Accounting policies  
   
 The accounting policies, set out below,  have been consistently applied to all periods presented 

in these financial statements. 
 

   
3.1 Foreign currency transactions 

 
Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are translated at the rate of 
exchange ruling on the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate ruling at reporting date. 
 
Gains or losses arising on exchange differences are recognised in Statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 

   
3.2 Financial instruments  
   
3.2.1 Non-derivative financial instruments  
   
 Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash 

equivalents  trade and other payables and available-for sale-financial instruments  
 

   
 Measurement  
   
 Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, which includes directly attributable 

transaction costs, except for instruments carried at fair value through profit and loss. 
Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below: 

 

   
 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 

 

   
 Trade and other receivables  
   
 Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, 

less impairment losses. 
 

   
 Trade and other payables 

 
Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, 
less impairment losses. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 
3. Accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.2.2  Available for sale financial assets  

 
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated as available 
for sale or are not classified as another category of financial assets. Unquoted equity securities 
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost. All other available-for-sale 
investments are carried at fair value. 
 
Other fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is 
sold or impaired, whereupon the cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 
 
A non-derivative financial asset may be classified from the available-for-sale category to loans 
and receivables category if it otherwise would have met the definition of loans and receivables 
and if the Company has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the foreseeable 
future or until maturity. 

 

 

3.2.3 Share capital  
  

Ordinary share capital  
  
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction 
from equity, net of any tax effects. Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which 
they are declared. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 

 

3 Accounting policies (continued)  
   
3.3 Property, plant and equipment   
   
 Recognition and measurement  
   
 Property, plant and equipment comprises furniture, computer equipment, and motor vehicles and is stated 

at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (refer to accounting policy 3.5). 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  

 

   
 Depreciation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the 

estimated useful lives of the assets to reduce the value of the assets to their residual values. 
 

   
 The estimated useful lives are as follows:  
   
 Furniture 5 years (2009 : 5 years)  
 Motor vehicles 5 years (2009 : 5 years)  
 Computer equipment 3 – 5 years (2009 : 3 – 5 years)  
   
 When parts of an item of equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 

(major components) of equipment. 
 

   
 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.  
   
 Gains/ (losses) on the disposal of fixed assets are credited/ (charged) to the statement of comprehensive 

income.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 

 

3 Accounting policies (continued)  
   
3.4 Intangible assets  
   
 Acquired software  
   
 Software acquired is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

 
 

 Research and development  
   
 Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or 

technical knowledge and understanding, is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income as an expense when incurred. 

 

   
 Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan for the 

production of new or substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if the 
development cost can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and 
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the company intends to and 
has sufficient resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset. The 
expenditure capitalised includes the cost of direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
overheads and costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. 

 

   
 Other development expenditure is recognised in the profit or loss as an expense as incurred.  
   
 Amortisation  
   
 Amortisation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis 

over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets. Capitalised development expenditure is 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 

   
 Estimated useful are as follows:  
   
 Purchased software                   1 – 10 years  (2009 : 1–10 years)  
 Developed software                        10 years  (2009 : 10 years)  
   
  

 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end 
and adjusted if appropriate. 

 

   
 Subsequent expenditure  
   
 Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalised only when it increases the future 

economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is 
expensed as incurred. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 
3. Accounting policies (continued) 
   
3.5 Impairment  
   
3.5.1 Financial assets  
   
 A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. 
 

   
 A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 

events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 
 

   
 An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as 

the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or 
loss. 

 

   
 Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  
   
 An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the 
reversal is recognised in profit or loss 

 

   
3.5.2 Non-financial assets  
   
 The carrying amounts of the company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

   
 For capitalised development expenditure that is not yet available for use, the recoverable 

amount is estimated at each reporting date. 
 

   
 The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use 

and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

 

   
 A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are 

largely independent from other assets and groups. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 

 

3 Accounting policies (continued)  
 
3.5 

 
Impairment (continued) 

 

   
 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss 
 

   
 An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

 

   
3.6 Employee benefits  
   
3.6.1 Defined contribution plan  
   
 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit 
expense in profit or loss when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. 

 

   
3.6.2 Short-term employee benefits  
   
 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 

related service is provided. 
 

   
 A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing 

plans if the company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

   
3.6.3 Long-term employee benefits  
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The company’s net obligation in respect of long-term obligations other than pension plans is the amount of 
future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the value of any related assets is deducted. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 

 

3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

 

3.6.3 Long-term employee benefits (continued)  
   
 The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date of listed corporate bonds, adjusted for company- specific 

circumstances that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the company’s obligation. The present 
value of the amount payable to employees in respect of the long term incentive scheme, which will be 
settled in cash, is recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that 
the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is re-measured at each reporting 
date and at settlement date. Any change in the carrying value of the liability is recognised as a personnel 
expense in profit or loss. 
 

 

3.7 Revenue  
   
 Revenue, comprising members fees, settlement charges, non-settlement charges i.e. queries, contract note 

fees, corporate action charges, front and licence fees, depository fees, issuer fees, data sales host-to-host  
and SWIFT bureau charges and connectivity fees is recognised in the financial year in which the related 
service is performed. All revenue is reflected excluding Value Added Taxation. 

 

   
3.8 Lease payments  
   
 Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset 

are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part 
of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

 

   
3.9 Finance income and expenses  
   
 Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in 

profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 
 
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings. All borrowing costs are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method. 

 

   
   
3.10 Foreign currency  
   
 Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
 

 

3 Accounting policies (continued)  
   
3.11 Income tax  
   
 Taxation on the statement of comprehensive income for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  

Taxation is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 
 
Current taxation is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred taxation is raised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition 
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting 
nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the 
extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future.   
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 
they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income tax levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or 
their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

 

   
 A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

 

   
 Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the 

liability to pay the related dividend is recognised. 
 

   
3.12 Earnings per share  
   
 The company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 

calculated by dividing the profit and loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 
 
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit and loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares. 
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3 Accounting policies (continued)   
    
3.13 Special Purpose Reserve   
    
 This reserve arises as a result of fines imposed by Strate’s supervision division as part of its    
 supervisory obligation to monitor compliance by participants.   
    
 This reserve will  be used for special projects or market training initiatives use of this reserve 

will require the approval of Strate’s Audit and Risk Committee 
  

    
3.14 New accounting standards   
    
 Standard  Description Effective date Impact on Strate 
 IAS 24 

(revised) 
Related Party 
Disclosures 

Annual periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 
2011 
 

The definition of a related party has been 
amended such that if one entity is identified as a 
related party in another entity’s financial 
statements, then the other entity  will also be a 
related party in the first entity’s financial 
statements.  
 
Strate would need to reassess all transactions 
with respect to the new definition. 
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 IFRS 9  
(AC 146) 

Financial 
Instruments 

Annual periods 
commencing on or 
after 1 January 
2013 

The standard requires that financial assets be  
classified as either measured at amortised cost or 
Fair value. 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if 
the objective of the business model is to hold  
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.  
The contractual terms give rise, on specified 
dates,  to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding. All other financial assets are 
measured at fair value, with fair value changes 
taken to profit or loss. 
 
The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39  
(AC 133) categories of held to maturity,  
available for sale and loans and receivables. 
Classification takes place on initial recognition 
and subsequent changes are expected to be rare  
and subject to certain conditions. 
 
For an investment in an equity instrument that is  
not held for trading,  an entity may on initial  
recognition elect to present all fair value changes  
from the investment in other comprehensive  
income (OCI). No amount recognised in OCI is 
ever reclassified to profit or loss at a later date 
 

   2010   2009  
   R’000   R’000  
4. Revenue     
      
 Revenue consists of the following:     
 Settlement and non-settlement charges  112 940 111 703  
 Ad-valorem fees  107 135 102 583  
 Issuers fees  19 724 13 231  
 Depository fees  11 294 9 237  
 Connectivity fees  3 545 4 671  
 Corporate action charges  7 449 5 998  
 Wide Area Network and SWIFT charges  7 038 4 686  
 Front end licence and membership fees  3 248 2 639  
 Data sales  3 763 3 355  

   276 136 258 103  
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5. Operating expenditure     
      
 is arrived at after taking into account:      
      
 Personnel expenditure and directors emoluments  83 680 79 838  
      
 Personnel expenses  70 852 70 091  
 – salaries  47 452 46 080  
 – contributions to defined contribution plans (refer note 24)  2 212 1 915  
 – increase in liability for leave pay accrual   428 1 362  
 – expense related to long-term incentive scheme (refer note 24)  5 158 5 369  
 – short-term incentive scheme (refer note 24)*   15 602 15 365  
      
 Directors’ emoluments (refer note 25)  12 828 9 747  
 – fees for services as directors  1 841 1 912  
 – fees for consulting services  144 884  
 – salaries of executive directors  4 836 3 446  
 – long term incentive scheme   2 285 994  
 – short term incentive scheme   3 722 2 511  
      
 A portion of the Ex-Gratia incentive, amounting to R 2 557 478  

(2009: R 3 152 520), which is included in the short-term incentive 
scheme costs, is only payable in the following year. 
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  2010   2009  
  R’000   R’000  
5. Operating expenditure (continued)      
       
  

IT expenditure 
IT expenditure includes expenditure in respect of hardware and software 
maintenance, communication costs (SWIFT and Wide Area Network) as 
well as the Local Area Network. 

 
33 676 

 
31 957 

 

        
 Depreciation and amortisation (refer notes  9 and 10)  21 818 17 737  
 – Property, plant and equipment  10 421   9 036  
 – Intangibles  11 397 8 701  
      
 Impairment charge consists of:  335 826  
 – Impairment relating to trade receivables  335   201  
 – Impairment relating to available-for-sale financial asset  – 625  

   

 Operating lease expense  5 651 5 305 
 – property rentals  5 555 5 201 
 – equipment    96   104 
    
 Auditor’s remuneration  959 890 
 Audit   859 890 
 Non-audit  100 – 
    
 Foreign exchange gain  (42) ( 30) 
     
 Legal fees  361 327 
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   2010 2009  
   R’000 R’000  
6. Taxation     
      
 Current taxation  21 111 30 388  
 Deferred taxation  7 991 (1 818)  
 Secondary tax on companies   5 456 3 976  

   34 558 32 546  

  
 
Tax rate reconciliation                                  2010   

                    
 

   2009 
               %     R'000  %    R'000 
     
 Profit before taxation   103 849  101 655

      
 Standard rate of South African normal taxation  28,00 29 078 28,00 28 463 
 Permanent differences  0,02 24 0,10 107 
 Secondary tax on companies   5,25 5 456 3,91 3 976 

 Current year’s charge as a percentage of profit 
before  taxation  33,27 34 558  32,01 32 546

        
7. Basic and diluted earnings per share       
        
        
 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  

69 291  
69 

109 
  

        
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares   9 756  9 756   
                
 Basic and diluted earnings per share (Rands)  7 102  7 084   
        
8. Headline earnings reconciliation       
        
 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  

69 291  
69 

109 
  

 Impairment charge  –  625   

 Taxation effect  –  (175)   

 Headline earnings  
 69 291  

69 
559 

  

        
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares   9 756  9 756   
        
 Headline earnings per share (Rands)  7 102  7 130   
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9. Property, plant and equipment 
 

 

  
Computer 
equipment 

Furniture 
and 

fittings 
Motor 

vehicles Total 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
  

Cost 
      

      
 Balance at 1 January 2009 38 839 1 744 90 40 673 
 Acquisitions 8 756 115 – 8 871 
 Disposals (9 454) – – (9 454) 
 Transfer from computer equipment (56) 56 – – 
 Transfer from Intangibles 1 091 – – 1 091 

 Balance at 31 December 2009 39 176 1 915 90 41 181 

      
      
      
 Balance at 1 January 2010 39 176 1 915 90 41 181 
 Acquisitions 8 468 206 – 8 674 
 Disposals (6 732) – – (6 732) 

 Balance at 31 December 2010 40 912 2 121 90 43 123 
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9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)  
  

Computer 
equipment 

Furniture 
and 

fittings 
Motor 

vehicles Total 

 

  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000  
 Accumulated depreciation      
      
 Balance at 1 January 2009 (19 172)   (1 161) (37) (20 370) 
 Depreciation  (8 850) (172) (14) (9 036) 
 Disposals 9 167 – – 9 167 
 Transfer from computer equipment 13 (13) – – 
 Transfer from Intangibles (413) – – (413) 

 Balance at 31 December 2009 (19 255) (1 346) (51) (20 652) 

       
      
 Balance at 1 January 2010 (19 255)   (1 346) (51) (20 652) 
 Depreciation  (10 225) (193) (3) (10 421) 
 Disposals 6 146 – – 6 146 

 Balance at 31 December 2010 (23 334) (1 539) (54) (24 927) 

      
      
 
 

 
Carrying values     

 At 1 January 2009 58 011 2 905 127 61 043 
 At 31 December 2009 19 921 569 39 20 529 
      
 At 1 January 2010 19 921 569 39 20 529 
 

At 31 December 2010 17 578 582 36   18 196 
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10 Intangibles 

    Purchased 
Software 

Developed 
Software Total 

    R’000 R’000 R’000 
 Cost                 
      
 Balance at 1 January 2009 128 264 33 191 161 455 
 Acquisitions 11 558 – 11 558 
 Disposals (1 678) – (1 678) 
 Transfer to Property, plant and equipment (1 091) – (1 091) 
 Internal development – 13 052 13 052 

 Balance at 31 December 2009 137 053 46 243 183 296 

       
     
 Balance at 1 January 2010 137 053 46 243 183 296 
 Acquisitions 3 288 – 3 288 
 Internal development – 7 365 7 365 

 Balance at 31 December 2010 140 341 53 608 193 949 
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10. Intangibles  
  Purchased 

Software 
 Developed 

Software 
 

Total 
  R’000  R’000 R’000 
          Amortisation and impairment losses    
     
 Balance at 1 January 2009 (106 680) (12 677) (119 357) 
 Amortisation for the period (8701)  –  (8 701) 
 Disposal 1 678  –  1 678 
 Transfer  to Property, plant and equipment 413 – 413 
 

Balance at 31 December 2009 (113 290) (12 677) (125 967) 

     
     

 
 

Balance at 1 January 2010 (113 290)  (12 677)  (125 967) 
 Amortisation for the period (5 771)  (5 626)  (11 397) 

 Balance at 31 December 2010 
(119 061)  (18 303)  (137 364) 

       
       
 Carrying values 

 
     

 At 1 January 2009 21 584  20 514  42 098 
 At 31 December 2009 23 763  33 566  57 329 
       
 At 1 January 2010 23 763  33 566  57 329 
 At 31 December 2010 21 280  35 305  56 585 
       

  
       
   2010  2009  
   R’000  R’000  
11. Trade and other receivables     
      
 Trade receivables - related parties   19 919 20 659  
 Trade receivables - other customers   11 090 6 861  
 Other receivables  933  638  
 Rebates on Securities Lending and Borrowing fees  (216) (210)  
 Allowance for impairment losses  (487) (368)  
 Trade receivables  31 239 27 580  
 Prepayments  5 287 2 434  
   36 526 30 014  
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  Assets  Liabilities  Net 
  2010  2009  2010  2009  2010  2009 
  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000 
        
 Operating lease 359 232 – – 359 232 
 Employee 

benefits 
 

2 371 2 600 – – 2 371 2 600 
 Fixed Assets – 1 354 (11 710) (5 569) (11 710) (4 215) 
 Income received 

in advance 173 80 – – 173 80 
 Prepayments – – (1 016) (486) ( 1 016) (486) 
 Allowance for 

impairment losses 102 77 – – 102 77 
 Available for  sale 

instrument 88 88 – – 88 88 
 Leave pay accrual 941 923 – – 941 923 
 Tax loss 3 339 3 339 – – 3 339 3 339 

  7 373  8 693  (12 726)  (6 055)  (5 353)  2 638 

  
  

  

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

12. Cash and cash equivalents  2010  2009  
   R’000  R’000  
 Cash on deposit and bank balances comprise:     
 Current account  12 640 5 508  
 Call deposits  135 594 124 506  

   148 234 130 014  

  
Finance income of R7,9 million (2009 – R10,6 million) was earned on bank deposits. The 
company’s exposures to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and 
liabilities are disclosed in note 18.3. 

  
13. Deferred taxation 
  
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 
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13. Deferred taxation (continued) 
  
 Movement in temporary differences during the year are attributable to the following: 

       
 

 

Balance at 
1 January 

2009 
 

Recognised 
in income 

statement in 
2009 

Balance at 
31 December 

2009 
 

Recognised 
in income 

statement in 
2010 

Balance at 
31 

December 
2010 

 
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
       
 Accruals 93 (93) – – – 
 Operating lease 

asset 16 216 232 127 359 
 Employee benefits 2 308 292 2 600 (229) 2 371 
 Fixed Assets  (4 984) 769 ( 4 215) (7 495) (11 710) 
 Income received in 

advance 48 32 80 93 173 
 Prepayments (815) 329 (486) (530) (1 016) 
 Allowance for 

impairment losses 66 11 77 25 102 
 Provision for leave 

pay 749 174 923 18 941 
 Available for  sale 

instrument – 88 
 

88 – 
 

88 
 Tax loss  – – 3 339 – 3 339 

  (2 519) 1 818 2 638 (7 991) (5 353) 

       

14 Prior period adjustment 
  

     
2010 2009 

     
R’000 R’000 

 Deferred tax  –  3 339 

  
 The correction relates to a correction in the tax assets recognised specifically for the assessed  

loss recognised in prior periods.  
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  2010  2009 
  R’000  R’000 
15. Share capital      
     
 Authorised    
 10 000 ordinary shares of R1 each  10 10  

 Issued    
 9 756 ordinary shares (2009 : 9 756) of R1 each  10 10  

     
 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as 

declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at 
meetings of the company. 

 

 

 

       
16. Share premium      
     
 Share premium   19 990 19 990 
       
      
17. Trade and other payables     
      
 Trade payables - related parties  15  21  
 Trade payables - other suppliers  14 500  10 404 
 Accrued expenses  677   1 310  
 Trade payables  15 192  11 735 
 Deferred income  618  285  

   15 810  12 020 

  
The company’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 
18.2. 

 

   
18. Financial instruments  
   
 The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:  
   
 �  Credit risk 

�  Liquidity risk 
�  Market risk. 

 

   
 This note presents information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the 

company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the company’s 
management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included through these financial 
statements. 
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18. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
 

 The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
company’s risk management framework. The Audit and Risk Committee, which is a sub-committee 
of the board, has as part of its Terms of Reference the responsibility to monitor risk management in 
the company.  
 
The Audit and Risk Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit 
undertakes regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of 
which are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

   
 The company, through training and managing of standards and procedures, aims to develop a 

disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and 
responsibilities. 

 

   
 The company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risk faced by the 

company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
 

   
18.1 Credit risk  
   
 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the company’s 
receivables from customers. 

 

   
 Trade and other receivables  
 The company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

customer. More than 90% of the company’s revenue is attributable to transactions with its 
Participants and the JSE. The outstanding balances are disclosed below.  
 
No material changes have taken place in respect of the client base as the company has been servicing 
the same customers since its inception. Irrecoverable amounts have been limited and were mainly 
attributable to services provided to issuers.  

 

   
 The need for company’s services is supported by the Securities Services Act (“SSA”) as it is the only 

company that is licensed to act as a CSD in South Africa present. 
 

   
 Cash and cash equivalents  
 The company has an investment policy which provides guidelines in respect of the day-to-day 

administration of cash within the company. The primary objective of the policy is to preserve capital. 
The policy also deals with permitted investment types and service providers as well as limits of funds 
to be placed with service providers.  
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18. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
 

18.1 Credit risk (continued)  
   
 The company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:  
   2010  2009  
   R’000  R’000  
      
 Trade and other receivables, excluding prepayments  31 009 27 580  
 Cash and cash equivalents  148 234 130 014  

   179 243 157 594  

 The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:  
       
   2010  2009  
   Gross Impairment Gross  Impairment  
 
   R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  
        
 Not past due  28 152 56 26 148 19  
 Passed due 31 - 60 days  1 395 15 250 5  
 Passed due 61- 90 days   407 6 164 5  
 Passed due 91 days and over  1 055 410  958 339  

   31 009 487 27 520 368  

   
 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as 

follows: 
 

   2010  2009  
   R’000  R’000  
      
 Balance as at 1 January  368 314  
 Impairment loss recognised  119 54  

 Balance as at 31 December  487 368  

  
The company believes that the impairment allowance is adequate. The allowance for impairment is 
based on specific customer circumstances and is not a general allowance. Specific allowances were 
made in respect of listed companies that were delisted or suspended from the JSE or where other 
reasons exist that raise doubt in respect of recoverability. The company is confident that all customer 
balances, besides those specifically included in the allowance, are recoverable.  

 

   
 The trade receivables are monitored and reviewed monthly. Problematic balances are identified and 

followed up on. 
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18. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
 

18.2 Liquidity risk  
   
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the company’s reputation. 

 

   
 The company has determined a minimum level of cash reserves in order to ensure its ongoing 

operations. The level is currently set at R 60 million, previously R80 million, and represents 
approximately four months of the present cash operating expenditure. The level is assessed on an 
ongoing basis to ensure that an adequate level of cash is maintained given the nature of the company. 

 

   
 The company does not have any debt that needs to be serviced.  
   
 The following table analyses the terms of the contractual undiscounted maturities of non-derivative 

financial instruments existing at the reporting date: 
 

 
  

Up to 3 
months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Carrying 
amount 

 

 2010 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000  
       
 Non-derivative financial assets 178 188 1 055 – 179 243  
 Trade and other receivables, excluding prepayments 29 954 1 055 – 31 009  
 Cash and cash equivalents 148 234 – – 148 234  
       
 Non-derivative financial liabilities       
 Trade and other payables, excluding deferred income (15 192) – – (15 192)  

 Net exposure 162 996 1 055 – 164 051  

 
 
   
  Up to 3 

months 
3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

Carrying 
amount 

  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
 2009     
      
 Non-derivative financial assets 156 636 958 – 157 594 
 Trade and other receivables, excluding prepayments 26  622 958 – 27 580 
 Cash and cash equivalents 130 014 – – 130 014 
      
 Non-derivative financial liabilities     
 Trade and other payables, excluding deferred income (11 735) – – (11 735) 

 Net exposure 144 901 958 – 145 859 
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18.2 Interest rate risk  
   
 Interest rate risk is the effect of a company’s exposure to the effect of future changes in the 

prevailing level of interest rates. 
 

   
 Strate currently has no material exposure to interest rate risk on its liabilities.  
   
 Interest receivable is received on a floating rate basis. Funds are invested in permitted investments 

and with service providers in accordance with the investment policy guidelines. The majority of our 
funds are on call. 

 

   
 The interest rate risk profile for non-derivative financial assets at the reporting date is as follows:  
  

 
Floating 

rate Total  
   R’000 R’000  
      
 2010     
      
 Non-derivative financial assets     
 Cash and cash equivalents  148 234 148 234  
      
 2009     
      
 Non-derivative financial assets     
 Cash and cash equivalents  130 014 130 014  
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

18. Financial instruments (continued)  
   
18.3 Interest rate risk  (continued)  
   
 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments  
   
 A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/ 

(decreased) the profit by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant. 
 

 

   
 Effect on profit or loss  100 bp 

increase 
 100 bp 

decrease 
 

   R’000  R’000  
 2010      
       
 Variable rate instruments  1 329  1 107  

 Cash flow sensitivity  1 329  1 107  

       
 2009      
       
 Variable rate instruments  1 156  (1331)  

 Cash flow sensitivity  1 156  (1 331)  

 
18.4 Fair value disclosure  
   
 Financial assets measured at amortised cost  
  2010  2009   
  R’000  R’000   
                                  Fair value  Fair value   
       
 Trade and other receivables 31 009  27 580  
 Cash and cash equivalents 148 234  130 014  
  179 243  157 594  

       
   
 The carrying amount of the financial assets measured at amortised cost approximates fair value  
 due to the short-term nature of the assets. In addition, cash and cash equivalents earn interest   
 on a variable basis.  
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 
   
18. Financial instruments (continued)  
   
18.4 Fair value disclosure (continued)  
   
18.4.1 Fair value hierarchy  
   
 The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The 

different levels have been defined as follows: 
 

   
 �  Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities  
   
 �  Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 
 

   
 �  Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable data). 
 

   
 The investment in Link-up Capital Market S.L, Spain is the only available for sale financial asset  
 which is held by Strate and is measured at fair value.  
   
 Details relating to this investment and the valuation method used has been disclosed in note 21.  
   
   
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
     

31 December 2010 – – 1 219 1 219 
     

31 December 2009 – – 1 219 1 219 
     

 

 

 
18.5  Capital management  
   
 The board’s aim is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confidence and to sustain future developments of the business.  
 

   
 To be financially self sufficient and to provide the shareholders with a fair return is one of the 

company’s key objectives. 
 

   
 The current capital structure only consists of equity. The company is satisfied with the current 

structure and therefore does not plan on raising any debt. 
 

   
 Management believe that the current capital structure is adequate to support the company’s 

operations and that it is within the company’s means to provide the shareholders with a fair return on 
their capital. 

 

   
 The company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
   
   



 
 

97 
 

Notes to the financial statements 
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19. Notes to the cash flow statement  2010  2009  
   R’000  R’000  
19.1 Cash generated by operations     
     
 Profit before taxation  103 849 101 655 
 Adjustments:    
 – depreciation/amortisation  21 818 17 737 
 – (Profit) / loss on sale of fixed assets  359  (25)  
 – finance income  (7 921) (10 632) 
 – Impairment loss  – 625 
     

 Operating profit before working capital changes  118 105 109 360 
 Increase in trade and other receivables  ( 6 727) ( 672) 
 Increase in trade and other payables  3 207 2 162 

   114 585 110 850  

     
19.2 Finance income received    
     
 Per income statement  7 921 10 632 

   7 921 10 632 

     
19.3 Taxation paid    
     
 Payable beginning of year  499 1 792 
 Current taxation and STC charge  26 567 34 364 
 Receivable/ (Payable) at end of year    3 563  (499) 

   30 629 35 657 
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20. Related parties 
  
 Shareholders who are CSD participants: 
  
 ·  Absa Bank Limited 
 ·  First Rand Bank Limited 
 ·  Nedbank Limited 
 ·  The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited. 
  
 Other shareholders: 
  
 ·  JSE Limited. 
  
 Key management personnel: 
  
 Key management personnel include the board of directors and members of executive committees. 

Key management personnel includes close family members of key personnel members who may be 
expected to influence or be influenced by that individual in dealing with the company. 

  
 Shareholders 

 
  Revenue  Trade receivables 
  2010  2009  2010  2009 
  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000 
      
 JSE Limited 118 028 96 174 10 122 10 771 
 The Standard Bank of South Africa 

Limited 57 800 50 569 4 780 4 566 
 FirstRand Bank Limited 33 011 29 566 2 912 2 714 
 Nedbank Limited 18 920 17 021 1 354 1 576 
 Absa Bank Limited 12 123 11 419 751 1 032 

 Total 239 882 204 749 19 919 20 659 

 
  
 Furthermore, Strate’s revenue, as reflected in note 4, is earned principally from the settlement of 

bonds and equities. In terms of Strate’s business model, these services are provided to CSDPs, some 
of whom are shareholders of the company. The revenue earned from providing these services, as 
detailed above, is market related. 
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  for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

    
21. Investment in Central Depository Nominees (Proprietary) Limited (“CD Nominees”)  and  

Link -up Capital Market s S.L, Spain 
  

    
21.1 CD Nominees   
    
 The company’s wholly owned subsidiary, CD Nominees, is used as a vehicle in whose name debt 

securities deposited with its holding company, Strate Limited, are registered. 
  

  
The issued share capital of CD Nominees of R1 is represented by cash of R1. 

  

    
2.1.2 Capital Markets S.L, Spain   
    
 During 2009 Strate Limited acquired a 2% shareholding in Link up Capital Markets S.L, Spain. The 

acquisition means that Strate is part of an international CSD community, and is in a position to 
promote the international competitiveness of securities services in South Africa. As a result, this 
investment holds both a strategic and intrinsic value to the company.  
 
The value of the investment has been estimated using a discounted cash flow model. The estimated 
future cash flows have been discounted using a discount factor derived from the company’s weighted 
average cost of capital.   
 
The shareholding was diluted during October 2010 from 2,0% to 1,31%. 

  

   2010  2009  
   R’000  R’000  
 Opening balance at 1 January 2010 / at acquisition  1219 1 844  
 Impairment loss  – (625)  
 Fair value at  31 December   1 219 1 219  
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the  for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

  

22. Commitments and contingencies  2010  2009  
   R’000  R’000  
 Commitments      
      
22.1 Operating Expenditure 

 
    

 Maintenance Contract                                                                                    10 324 6 336  
 – within one year  10 324 6 336  
 – greater than a year but less than five years  – –  
      
 Lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases  17 478 22 155  
 – within one year  5 506 5 197  
 – greater than a year but less than five years  11 972 16 958  

   27 802 28 491  

      
22.2 Capital expenditure:      
      
 Authorised     
 – within one year   50 930 30 406  

 The commitments are to be funded out of working capital.   
    
 Contingent liabilities   
    
 Strate Limited has issued a guarantee of R1,5 million in favour of CBS Property Portfolio Limited.   
 Strate binds itself as guarantor for the due and punctual fulfilment of terms stipulated in the lease     
 agreement.   
    
23 Change in Estimate   
    
 Strate Limited changed its estimate regarding the useful life of its Safires application. The useful life of 

this application has been extended for another 5 years. This change has been applied prospectively from 
the beginning of the year and the effect of this change  is as follows: 

  

 2010   
 R’000   
    
        Statement of Comprehensive Income                                      
        Decrease in Depreciation 1 674   
        Increase in Taxation expense (469)   
        Increase in Profit after tax 1 205   
   
  
       Statement of Financial Position      
       Increase in Intangible assets 1 674   
       Increase in Deferred tax expense (469)   
       Increase in Equity 1 205   
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the  for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

   

24. Employee benefits    
     
 The company’s salary structure is based on the total cost to company principle.    
     
 All contributions to the pension scheme and medical aid are included in the salary structure. The 

company provides retirement benefits for all its permanent employees through defined 
contribution pension schemes and therefore does not have a liability in terms of retirement 
benefits. 

   

     
 Members’ interests in the schemes are based on the market value of the funds and are adjusted 

monthly for changes in market value. These schemes are fully funded and are governed by the 
Pension Funds Act, 1956 as amended. 

   

     
   2010  2009   
   R’000  R’000   
 Current liability      
 Short-term Incentive      
       
 Balance of Ex-Gratia bonus  2 557  3 153  

       
 Liability for long-term incentive scheme      
       
 Long-term incentive scheme  5 910  6 113  

   8 467  9 266  

 
 Details in respect of the workings of the short-term incentive and long-term incentive scheme are 

included in the Remuneration Committee report, which forms part of the Corporate Governance 
report. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

25. Directors’ emoluments       
   Directors’ 

fees 
Consulting 

fees Salaries  
Bonuses and 

LTI Total 
 

   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000  
             
 2010  1 841 144  4 836  6 007  12 828  
 Executive 

directors 
    

    
 

 
 

 MJ Singer Saul  CEO  –  –  *2 438  3 563  6 001  
 AF van Eden COO –  –  ** 1 944  971  2 915  
 H van Eeden  CFO  –  –  *** 454  ***1 473  1 927  
             
 Other directors            
 ME King  Chairman 472  –  –  –  472  
 A van der Merwe  298  –  –  –  298  
 MR Johnston  –  144  –  –  144  
 NG Payne  227  –  –  –  227  
 NE Makiwane  139  –  –  –  139  
 PL Campher  111  –  –  –  111  
 RJG Barrow  259  –  –  –  259  
 RGM Ndlovu  199  –    –  –  199  
 SV Zilwa  136  –  –  –  136  
             
*    Includes R234,460 that relates to contributions made to the JSE Pension Fund. 
**  Includes R156,371 that relates to contributions made to the JSE Pension Fund. 
***Relates to remuneration earned subsequent to being appointed to the Board on 13 August 2010. 
      Remuneration earned prior to this appointment amounted to R945 664 (Salary R744,834; Bonuses R200,830)  
     
      Other directors do not receive any form of remuneration other than reimbursements. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (continued) 

25. Directors’ emoluments (continued)      
  Directors’ 

fees 
Consulting 

fees Salaries 
Bonuses and 

LTI Total 
 

   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000  
             
2009  1 912 884  3 446  3 505  9 747 
Executive directors           
MJ Singer Saul  CEO  –  –  2 216  2 857  5 073 
AF van Eden COO –  573  1230  648  2 451 
           
Other directors           
ME King  Chairman 440  –  –  –  440 
A van der Merwe  305  –  –  –  305 
MR Johnston  –  311  –  –  311 
NG Payne  193  –  –  –  193 
NE Makiwane  54  –  –  –  54 
PL Campher  138  –  –  –  138 
RJG Barrow  222  –  –  –  222 
RGM Ndlovu  242  –  –  –  242 
SV Zilwa  209  –  –  –  209 
RG Cottrell  109  –  –  –  109 
 


